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               IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
               FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA
                       EASTERN DIVISION
                                   

                               )
BUSINESS LEADERS IN CHRIST,    )
                               )
               Plaintiff,      )        CIVIL ACTION NO.
                               )      17-cv-00080-SMR-SBJ
               vs.             ) 
                               )
THE UNIVERSITY OF IOWA, et al.,)        DEPOSITION OF
                               )        THOMAS BAKER 
               Defendants.     )
                               )             

               Deposition of THOMAS BAKER, taken at 
UI Research Park, 2500 Crosspark Road, Coralville, Iowa, 
commencing at 8:30 a.m., August 16, 2018, before Tracy A. 
Hamm, Certified Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and 
for the State of Iowa.

APPEARANCES

On behalf of Plaintiff:           Eric S. Baxter
                                  (pro hac vice)
                                  Lead Counsel
                                  Daniel H. Blomberg
                                  (pro hac vice)
                                  The Becket Fund for 
                                      Religious Liberty
                                  1200 New Hampshire Avenue NW
                                  Suite 700
                                  Washington, D.C.  20036

On behalf of Defendants:          George A. Carroll
                                  Assistant Attorney General
                                  1305 East Walnut Street
                                  Des Moines, IA  50319 

                                  Nathan Levin
                                  Deputy Counsel
                                  Office of General Counsel
                                  The University of Iowa
                                  120 Jessup Hall
                                  5 West Jefferson Street
                                  Iowa City, IA  52242-1316
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THOMAS BAKER,

witness herein, called as a witness by Plaintiff, after having

been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

EXAMINATION

BY MR. BAXTER:

Good morning.  Could you please state your name for

the record.

Sure.  Thomas Robert Baker.

And you're employed at the University of Iowa,

correct?

Correct.

And how long have you been employed there?

I've been employed on a part-time basis since 1985

and a full-time basis since 1988.

And what responsibilities have you had there?

During the entire time I've worked in the -- I work

in the Office of the Dean of Students, so I -- my supervisor

was the dean of students.  My role started with student

discipline and continues to be student discipline, and there

were some other responsibilities that have been assigned to me

over the years, and the -- from my -- my role has changed, my

title has changed several times because the role I play has

changed.

Can we walk through those quickly.  So in 1985 you

started; is that right?

That's right.

And what was your title then?

I was a graduate assistant.

Okay.  And you reported directly to the dean of

students at that time --

Yeah.

-- as well?

That's right.

And just so we both know, I'm going to ask you just

to be careful to let me finish my sentences.  I'll try --

All right.

MR. CARROLL:  Even there, and it's only for her

(indicating).

BY MR. BAXTER:

I'll try to do the same when you're speaking, and

let's make sure any answers you have are "yes," "no," not

"uh-huh" or "huh-uh" because that doesn't transcribe well for

the reporter, okay?

And going back, did you say in 1985 you reported

directly to the dean of students?

Correct.

And then in 1988 you took on a full-time position?

Correct.

And what was your title then?

I was the assistant to the dean of students.

And what beyond student conduct was part of your

responsibilities then?

I -- I don't recall exactly.  My primary role was

investigating student misconduct cases, and I -- the part of

my job description that says "other duties as assigned" was

just dependent upon what the particular needs of the office

were at the time.

And when you say you had responsibility over student

misconduct, did that involve registered student organizations,

or just misconduct by individual students?

Misconduct by individual students.

And do you remember when your title next changed?

I believe it was 1997 I became the assistant dean of

students and the associate counselor.

And how did that change your responsibilities?

I don't know -- I -- my responsibilities didn't

change other than the fact that with the associate counsel

role, I was the liaison with the General Counsel's office.  In

fact, I've been operating as a liaison to the General

Counsel's office before that, but my day-to-day work didn't

change.  Before the change in 1997 I was reviewing contracts.

If there was a matter involving a student organization that

had violated student organization roles, I might -- rules, I

might be assigned to investigate that, but there were a number

of different responsibilities that flowed from the legal work
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related to Student Services.

And beyond sometimes investigating student

organization misconduct, what would those have been?

I'm sorry, I'm not sure I understand your question.

You stated that there were other roles that flowed

-- other roles concerning student organizations that flowed

from your role as the associate counselor and you mentioned

that one of those was investigating student organization

complaints; were there other specific responsibilities with

regard to student organizations?

No; I was not involved in the day-to-day work of

advising student organizations.

And when you say you sometimes were asked to

investigate issues concerning student organizations, what

specifically did that entail?

Reports of hazing by a fraternity or a sorority.  We

had a death in a fraternity house in 1995, so we investigated

the circumstances of that.

And you would conduct the actual factual

investigation?

Correct.

And what was the process for students to appeal from

your findings?

I don't recall exactly.  I believe if a sanction was

imposed on a student organization, there was an appeal

process, but I don't recall ever talking internally within the

University.  I don't recall which offices heard which types of

cases.  For example, it may have been dependent upon whether

it was a derecognition or whether it was probation or

something like that.

Okay.  You mentioned in 1996 you had a title change

and "associate counsel" was added to your title; do you

remember when your title was next changed after that?

I believe it was 2002; my new title was associate

dean of students without the associate counselor.

And what was the impact of that change?

There was no impact on my day-to-day work other than

just identifying myself as the associate dean instead of the

assistant dean.

And do you know why the "associate counselor" title

was removed?

I don't know for certain.  I presumed at the time

that the fact that the --

MR. CARROLL:  Let's note that someone just entered

the room.  Are you here for the deposition?

MR. LEVIN:  Yeah.  Yes, I thought they started at

9:00, so I apologize for --

MR. BAXTER:  This is Nate Levin.

MR. CARROLL:  I thought you were out of town.

Apparently not.  Okay.

THE WITNESS:  Shall I continue?

BY MR. BAXTER:

Please.

Okay.  The -- I presumed that at the time in 2002

when my title was changed that because the office of the

General Counsel was expanding, the number of lawyers that -- a

decision was made to have Student Services' legal issues

involving someone in the General Counsel's office, not just

the liaison to the office, so, in other words, I reported

still to the dean of students.  The dean of students was my

supervisor.  The -- after my -- after the change in 2002, the

associate general counsel who advised on Student Services

matters reported to the general counsel.

So during the time you were serving as what you

called the liaison to the General Counsel's office, were you

otherwise involved in the regular work of the General

Counsel's office?

No.

And did you consider any of the work that you did

during that time to be subject to the attorney-client

privilege or work product privilege?

I'm not sure what product privilege is.  In terms of

the attorney-client privilege, there may have been situations

that I was involved with in that period from 1997 to 2002 that

had a privilege associated with it, but my day-to-day work did

not ordinarily fall under the umbrella of attorney-client.

You mention in 2002 you had a title change when

"associate counsel" title was removed.  Do you remember when

your next title change was after that?

2009 the director of student -- "director of the

Student Conduct Office" was added to my title, so as of 2009 I

was the associate dean of students and the director of the

Student Conduct Office.

And how did that impact your day-to-day

responsibilities?

Well, the title change itself didn't impact my

responsibilities.  What did impact my day-to-day

responsibilities was the fact that the vice president's office

was split into two parts.  Prior to 2009 the dean of students

was also the vice president for Student Services, so in 2009 a

separate dean of students title was created, and I reported to

the new dean of students instead of the vice president.  So I

had a different supervisor, and I also -- we also shifted room

arrangements because the Conduct Office was expanding

personnel.

And you mentioned earlier that at one point you were

the assistant dean, and then you were the associate dean; was

there any significance in the difference between those titles?

I don't believe so.  I mean obviously there was a

pay grade difference, but I don't recall getting any new
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responsibilities in 2002.

In general, what's the difference between an

assistant dean and an associate dean?

There's no difference in terms of the human

resources terminology.  So, in other words, whereas a faculty

member, it's a big difference between an assistant professor

and an associate professor, but in the HR world, for student

affairs it's -- it simply denotes that you're at a higher pay

grade.

And --

That's my understanding.

And in both positions you reported directly to the

dean?

Correct; the dean of students.

And 2009 do you remember when your title changed

next?

I think it was in 2016, the "director of Student

Conduct Office" was removed from my title.  I was being

assigned more and more to do Title IX investigations, and I

was no longer functioning as a director and so I was once

again the associate dean of students.

And has your title changed since then?

Yes; as a matter of fact, May 1 of 2018 I -- my

title is student misconduct and Title IX investigator.

And who do you report to in that role?

I report to the associate dean of students.

Did you consider that to be a demotion?

No.

Why not?

The decision was discussed with my supervisor and

the vice president, and they explained that it was -- that the

title was changing because I was no longer supervising anyone,

and they wanted a title that fit my day-to-day work which was

investigating Title IX cases.

But is it fair to say that you now report to the

person who previous -- is it fair to say that you now report

to the person who holds the position you previously held as

associate dean?

No; I don't -- the person that I report to now was

the assistant dean of students when I was the associate dean

of students.

And at that time did that person report to you?

No; we each reported to the dean of students.

Okay.  But that individual's title changed from

assistant to associate?

Correct.

And who is that individual?

Angie Reams, R-e-a-m-s.

I'm going to ask you to look at what's been

previously marked as Exhibit 2, and do you recognize this

document?

MR. CARROLL:  Yeah, the tab -- excuse me.  The tab

is going to be -- they're not marked, but the tab means

Exhibit 2, so you're at the right exhibit.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  This is the Notice of

Deposition, I believe.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Correct, this is the Notice of the Rule 30(b)(6)

deposition, and if you flip to the third page which is labeled

"Exhibit A," have you seen this document before?

I believe I've seen this.

It's my understanding that you've been designated

today to be the witness to speak on behalf of the University

for topics number 5 and 8; is that correct?

I can speak to both points 5 and 8.  I don't

understand the "30(b)(6)" designation, but I can certainly

speak to topics 5 and 8.

Okay.  And did you do anything -- besides speaking

with your attorneys, did you do anything to prepare to speak

on topics number 5 and 8?

I reviewed the interrogatories.  I reviewed my file

on the Christian Legal Society.  I reviewed some of the

documents related to the BLinC case.

And besides your attorneys, did you speak to anyone

in preparation for your deposition today?

No.

At some point were you asked to gather documents for

this litigation?

Yes, I was; in January of 2018 I received several

email requests from attorneys to produce documents.

And did you receive instruction not to destroy any

documents that might be relevant to this litigation?

Yes.

And what did you do to respond to the instructions

that you were given to gather documents?

I looked through several files that I had.  I looked

through the BLinC file, and I -- so, in other words, I looked

at paper copies.  I also looked in my computer.  I organized

email messages into a folder, and I created a new subdirectory

to place electronic documents in for storage and reference

later, and I also asked a staff member to scan the documents

from the Christian Legal Society files.

And what search terms or parameters did you use to

identify email communications that might be relevant?

I don't recall for certain.  I know that I used

"BLinC" as the acronym is spelled.  I did not -- I don't

recall what I did with the Christian Legal Society documents.

I believe I had the Christian Legal Society electronic

documents in a folder already.  Most -- because it was 2004,

most of the Christian Legal Society documents are hard copies,
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so I would have searched under "BLinC."  I would have gone to

my -- the subdirectory I had already created for Christian

Legal Society, and I also -- after making a list of the staff

members that I communicated with about the BLinC case, I

searched my email under each name to see if there were any

emails that were about BLinC that didn't have the word "BLinC"

in them, and if there were any -- I don't recall if there were

or weren't any, but those would have been stored in the

subdirectory.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  I'm going to give you a document

that the reporter will mark as Exhibit Number 7.

Here's (indicating) an extra copy if you'd like it.

MR. CARROLL:  No, this is -- it's already in there.

MR. BAXTER:  Oh, it's already in there?

MR. CARROLL:  Yeah.  Tom's answers, right?

MR. BAXTER:  Yes.

MR. CARROLL:  Yeah, you don't need to mark it.  That

was marked previously.

BY MR. BAXTER:

So just to clarify the record, the document's

previously marked and is in the binder as Exhibit 7, correct?

Correct.

And do you recognize this document?

Yes, I do.

And what is it?

These are my responses to the interrogatories.

And at the time you wrote these, did you understand

that your answers were being given under oath?

Yes.

If you could flip to your answer to Interrogatory

Number 1 on page 3, do you see that?

Yes.

These are the individuals you've identified with

whom you've communicated concerning BLinC or this litigation,

correct?

Correct.

And since you've completed these answers, is there

anyone else that you've thought of that you've spoke with

about this litigation?

No.

What was the extent of your communication with

Kenneth Brown?

Very limited.  I was asked to communicate with

Professor Brown in January 2018 after the suit was filed to

gather documents and to determine if there was any information

that the associate dean's office had in the Tippie College of

Business.

And do you recall what Mr. Brown's -- the substance

of any of Mr. Brown's responses to your discussions with him?

I don't recall specifically.  I know he did reply to

my email.  I may have talked to him on the phone; I don't

recall for sure.  As far as I remember, there weren't any

documents that Professor Brown had.

What was the extent of your communication with

Lyn Redington?

Well, because she was my supervisor, there were

several times when we spoke or communicated by email.  The

first time in the case involving BLinC that Dean Redington

spoke to me was to tell me that she wanted me to sit in on the

investigation being conducted by Connie Cervantes and then to

share the findings of Connie's investigation with Dr. Nelson.

Did she tell you why she wanted you to sit in on

that investigation?

She did; I asked her to clarify what my role was,

and what I recall from the conversation was that she was

asking me to serve as a liaison role.

A liaison between whom?

Between the EOD office, Connie Cervantes; and the

CSIL office, Dr. Nelson's office.

Was this an unusual step for her to ask you to

participate in this way?

Well, it was unusual in the sense that we had never

had a Human Rights Policy investigation, a complaint filed

before, so I had never served that role before, and it was the

first time that we had a formal complaint filed against -- by

an individual against a student organization.

As you recall, was there just one investigation, or

two investigations the first time

Dr. Redington asked you to serve as a liaison?

Could you repeat your question.

When Dr. Redington asked you to serve as a liaison

between the EOD office and CSIL -- that's C-S-I-L -- was that

just concerning the BLinC investigation, or was there any

other complaint or investigation that she approached you

about?

Oh, it just concerned the BLinC investigation -- oh,

pardon me.  The -- there was a second organization that

Mr. Miller in his complaint accused a student organization

with the name 24:7, so the EOD office conducted two

investigations; one complainant, two different organizations

were accused of a Human Rights Policy violation.  The same

investigator investigated both cases, and I -- so

Dr. Redington asked me to observe Connie's interviews both

with 24:7 and with BLinC.

And did you learn about both investigations at the

same time, or at different times?

Same time.

What was the scope of your interaction with Andy

Kutcher?

I spoke with Andy Kutcher or he spoke with me, I
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don't recall who initiated the discussion, but this would have

been in January 2018.  Following the lawsuit, Andy was

assigned to track down some documents, and he and I spoke

about a pretty specific issue; if I recall, it had to do with

student organization fairs that BLinC had participated in.

Do you recall what documents Andy had been asked to

locate?

I don't recall.

And do you recall what the substance of the

conversation was?

I don't.

You mentioned that it had to do with the student

fair?

Yes, student organization fair; this is the event

where all registered student organizations are invited to set

up a table to -- so that students who are looking to join

groups could talk to them if they're interested in membership.

Did the conversation involve BLinC's participation

in the student fair?

Yes.

And do you remember what Andy's position was on

their involvement?

No, I don't remember what he found.

And do you remember what you said about their

participation in the fair?

Well, I'm not involved in facilitating student

organization fairs, so I had no information to give to Andy

about whether BLinC participated or didn't participate.

Please turn to the next page of this document.

(The witness complied.)

Here you've identified email addresses and social

media platforms you've used to communicate with anyone about

BLinC or this lawsuit, correct?

Correct.

Did you ever communicate with anyone about BLinC or

this lawsuit on social media?

No.

Would you have ever used any personal email

addresses?

No.

This is the only avenue besides in-person

conversations that you would have communicated with others

about BLinC or this lawsuit?

Correct.

Turning to the second page, do you see here that you

indicated that you did not participate in the decision to

deregister BLinC; is that correct?

MR. CARROLL:  Excuse me just for a moment.  You said

"second page."  Can you just -- it's page 5, correct?

MR. BAXTER:  This is the next page, correct, page 5,

response to Interrogatory Number 3.

MR. CARROLL:  Thank you.

THE WITNESS:  Yes, I did not participate in the

decision to deregister BLinC.

BY MR. BAXTER:

And then turning to the next page in response to

Interrogatory Number 4, you indicate that the decision to

deregister was made by Dr. Redington and/or Dr. Nelson; is

that correct?

Correct.

And what's your basis for that statement?

Because under our procedure for student organization

misconduct, Dr. Nelson as the director of the CSIL office had

the primary responsibility for issuing decisions, and

Dr. Redington as the dean of students was the person who heard

appeals.

If there were others who were involved in the

decision, would you have known about it?

No.

And you didn't consider your discussions with

Dr. Redington to be part of the decision to deregister BLinC?

I had discussions with Dr. Redington before -- early

on in the process when the case was under investigation by

EOD, but when Dr. Nelson was deciding what decision to make,

Dr. Redington did not consult with me about the decision to

deregister or not deregister.

Did you ever give your opinion as to whether BLinC

should be deregistered or not?

No.

And did either Dr. Redington or Dr. Nelson ever

request your opinion or advice on that question?

No.

I'm going to ask you now to look at documents

previously identified as Exhibit Number 46 behind tab 46.

I'm going to have you go back, I'm sorry, to

Exhibit 40.

Okay.  (The witness complied.)

Which has also been previously marked.  Do you

recognize this letter?

Let me review it.

I don't recall this letter.  It wasn't in my file,

my personal file, on -- pardon me, my file as the associate

dean with regard to Christian Legal Society.  The -- this

document, Exhibit 40, references the Christian Legal Society,

and it's dated 1999.  The first document that I have in my

file about the Christian Legal Society I believe is dated

2003, so I'm not -- I'm not sure that I recall seeing this

before.

So you think -- just to be clear, you think that

someone other than you would have produced this document?
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I believe so, unless I was -- did a poor job in

organizing my files.

I'm going to ask you to flip to the document that's

been previously marked as Exhibit 41.

(The witness complied.)

This is a memo from Alice Mathis to Philip Jones,

correct?

Correct.

And you were cc'd on this memo, correct?

Correct.

Do you have any recollection of this document?

I do not.

And you don't think you produced it from your file?

Correct.

Who is Alice Mathis?

Alice Mathis was the CSIL director for Dr. Nelson.

And who is Philip Jones?

Philip Jones is my supervisor, the vice president

for Student Services and dean of students.

And this document is dated 1999, correct?

Correct.

You see in the second sentence where it says:

"Based on a legal review, there appear to be no

First Amendment violations in the organization's constitution

for local participation in a religious organization"?

I see the sentence that you're referencing.

Do you have any idea what that's referring to?

I don't know that for certain.  As you know, the

First Amendment includes a number of different provisions, and

I don't -- doesn't look like it's specified what aspect of the

First Amendment is being implied.

So am I correct that you have no personal

recollection of what this memo is about?

Correct.

And in preparation for this deposition, nobody

showed you this document or explained to you what it was

referring to?

Correct.

I'm going to ask you to look at the document labeled

-- or behind tab number tab number 42 which has previously

been marked as Exhibit 42.

(The witness compiled.)

Do you recognize this document?

Yes; these are my handwritten notes January 7th,

2004.  I made the notes during a phone conversation from a

local attorney, Craig Nierman, who was representing the

Christian Legal Society.

And what was the purpose of that phone call?

Mr. Nierman called me to express concerns about the

status of the Christian Legal Society.

And what had triggered his concern?

I believe the student -- one of the Student

Government committees had noticed that the Christian Legal

Society had not included their -- had not included the

University Human Rights Policy in their constitution.  The

decision to change the status of the Christian Legal Society

by the Student Government committee had been made in late

2003, I believe, and Mr. Nierman was representing Christian

Legal Society and called and had some questions.  To be honest

with you, I'm --

And I can direct your attention to the document

later.  I'm just right now looking for your recollection

without looking at the document --

Okay.

-- what you were -- do you have any other

recollection about why he had called?

No.

And when you mentioned that the Student Government,

I think you said, had changed the status of Christian Legal

Society on campus, what do you mean by that?

Well, the rules require that every student

organization that's registered include the Human Rights Policy

verbatim in the group's constitution, so in order to maintain

their status as a registered organization, there's a -- you

might call it an audit, a check, done by -- at that time it

was done by a committee and Student Government to make sure

that student organizations had included their -- their Human

Rights Policy in their constitution.

Is it your understanding that all student

organization constitutions were reviewed for compliance in

that record?

Could you repeat your question.

At that time, so in 2004, you said there was a

committee that reviewed -- would have reviewed for Christian

Legal Society's compliance in its constitution meaning whether

it had included the Human Rights Policy; is that correct?

I'm sorry, could you repeat it one more time.

You mentioned a committee that was responsible for

reviewing constitutions; is that correct?

Correct.

And you suggested, if I understood you correctly,

that that committee would have noticed that Christian Legal

Society's constitution didn't have the complete Human Rights

Policy in it; is that correct?

Correct; as I recall, it didn't have any language

from the Human Rights Policy in their constitution, and I

don't know how they noticed that.  I don't know -- I didn't

advise the committee.  I don't know what the committee's

charge was, but the committee realized that there was -- that

the language that was in their constitution wasn't in their
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constitution and changed their status on that basis.

So you have no idea whether that committee was

reviewing all student constitutions or whether it just noticed

the omission in Christian Legal Society's constitution; is

that correct?

Correct.

And do you recall what exactly or how exactly the

committee had changed Christian Legal Society's status?

I don't recall specifically how they communicated

that.  I assume it was a written document; whether it was a

letter, whether it was an email, I don't know.

And I'm going to refer to Christian Legal Society as

"CLS" going forward.

Okay.

But at that time was CLS deregistered, or was there

some other change in their status?

I don't recall if they were formally deregistered.

I know that they were notified that the discrepancy needed to

be corrected, so as to what their status was during this time

period, whether they were eligible to use University

facilities, whether they were eligible to apply for finances,

I don't know.

And when did you first hear about the change in

status?

It was when Mr. Nierman called me on January 7th,

2004.

Okay.  And looking at your notes on Exhibit 42, do

you see where it says at the top:  "Group submitted

constitution to OSL," "Big I" in non-discrimination clause"?

The "I" circled is my shorthand for "issue," so --

quotation marks means that Mr. Nierman used the phrase "big

issue."

Okay.  And then the next lines say:  "Draft didn't

mention religion or sex orientation.  Homosexual conduct is

incompatible with relig beliefs.  OSL wouldn't reconsider to

rejection"; is that correct?

Right.  Obviously the grammar there is askew, and

"OSL" refers to the Office of Student Life which was the

previous name of what's now the CSIL office.

And what were your notes referring to here?

Those three lines that you referenced?

Correct.

This again would have been -- I would have been

writing down what Mr. Nierman was telling me.

Do his -- do those comments bring to your

recollection what the substance of your conversation was with

him?

I don't recall our conversation specifically.  I

know that in a general sense he was concerned about the CLS

and their religious beliefs.

And was he referring to religious beliefs concerning

sexual orientation, or something else?

My understanding was that sexual orientation was one

of the concerns.  I don't recall if there may have been other

categories listed in the Human Rights Policy that he was

concerned about, but for sure I wrote down "sexual

orientation," and that's my memory that -- my general memory

is that he was asking about the group's religious beliefs and

the Human Rights Policy as it applied to protect sexual

orientation.

And at that time was sexual orientation actually

included in the Human Rights Policy as a protected category?

I can't remember.  I don't remember -- I know it was

changed at some point in time.  I don't recall what year it

was changed.

So at some point it wasn't in the Human Rights

Policy, and then it was added later; is that correct?

Correct.

And do you have any general sense of when that would

have happened?

No.

And you don't recall whether it was before or after

this phone call?

Correct.

Your notes also indicate that -- it says, quote:

"Rumors that Muslim groups allowed to discrim"; do you see

that?

Uh-huh.  Yes.

And then it says:  "(He doesn't disagree with this

exception - I do)," correct?

Yes.

What was that referring to?

I -- I don't know.  I can speculate about what I was

thinking when I wrote that, but that parenthetical phrase was

my habit at the time of making personal notes to myself.

So at that time was it your understanding that

Muslim groups were allowed to exclude, for example, members or

leaders who weren't Muslim?

No, I didn't know anything about Muslim groups.  I

had never -- it had never been reported to me that their --

what Muslim groups were doing or were not doing.

And at this time had you had any involvement with

student groups on campus?

Any in --

Any involvement with student groups on campus.

MR. CARROLL:  Just so I'm clear, when you say "at

this time," do you mean in '04?

BY MR. BAXTER:

In the time you were taking these notes in January

of 2004.
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Any involvement in student groups -- my only

involvement with student groups was in my capacity as

investigator.  I didn't meet with student groups to talk about

student events other than issues that had contractual

implications or --

Were you involved in the registration as to

organizations?

No.

Why would the earlier matter we discussed where --

I'm sorry, why would -- in this matter, why would the

committee that was responsible for reviewing compliance of

student constitutions -- why would their issues have come to

you?

Well, the issue came to me because of Mr. Nierman's

phone call.

And do you know why he would have called you instead

of someone else?

I don't.

And at that time did you have any understanding of

how the Human Rights Policy was applied to the student

organizations?

Yes; I have had several conversations over the years

with my supervisor, the dean of students, about the history of

the Human Rights Policy and so, yes, I was familiar with the

Human Rights Policy.

Okay.  And in what -- have you had opportunity to

interpret the Human Rights Policy as it applied to student

organizations at this time?

You mean previous to CLS?

Correct.

I don't recall.

Okay.  And what -- at that time what would your

understanding have been concerning student groups; did you

have any opinion or would you have had any opinion as to

whether, for example, a Muslim student group could exclude

students from either membership or leadership positions who

were not Muslim?

Could you repeat your question.

At the time of this phone call from Mr. Nierman,

would you have had any understanding of whether the Human

Rights Policy allowed, for example, a Muslim group to exclude

non-Muslims from membership?

It was not an issue that I had considered before

this case, before Mr. Nierman called, so the -- it was -- the

issues about religious groups and their membership

requirements did become something that I studied and had

conversations with -- about after January 7th, but as of

January 7th when Mr. Nierman called me, I don't recall that

issues about discrimination involving religious groups had

come up before.

And do you have any recollection of what exceptions

he was referring to that you disagreed -- that you had

disagreed with?

Could you repeat your question.

You mentioned here in your note that he disagreed

with an exception, and you -- that he did -- he doesn't

disagree with an exception, and you said "I do"; what

exception was being referred to there?

I don't know.  The term that I'm confused by is the

term "exception," so I'm not sure what -- based on these

notes, I can't reconstruct the dialogue that I had with

Mr. Nierman, so I'm not -- I don't -- I can speculate, but I

don't have a recollection of what specifically I was noting.

Understanding that you're speculating, please tell

me what you would guess this is about.

Well, it may have --

MR. CARROLL:  Tom, if you don't know, don't

speculate.  You're not required to speculate.  If you know,

you have to answer it under oath.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Well, I don't know.

MR. BAXTER:  I mean you can actually answer my

question.  It's in the record that he's speculating.  Are you

instructing him not to answer?

MR. CARROLL:  I am.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.

In the margin do you see where it says something

about "pigeon hole"?

Yes.

Can you make out what that says in the margin?

Unfortunately there's a hole of a different sort

here.  It's hard to -- I can't -- I can't decipher what's

there.  The part that I can make out it says "black student,"

and I don't recall -- I can't decipher the word below "black

student."

Does it say "immutable characteristics"?

Oh, yeah, "immutable characteristics."

And do you have any recollection what you were

referring to there?

Well, the conversations that I had previously with

the dean of students involved the notion of immutable

characteristics as to why -- what is the core principle of the

Human Rights Policy, and so notions about immutable

characteristics, what your eye color is, what your skin color

is, things like that that -- that's the -- that was my

understanding, that those were principles that the Human

Rights Policy was designed to protect from differential

treatment.

And who was that that you had that conversation

with?

Philip Jones.
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And he at the time was the dean of students; is that

correct?

Correct.

And when had that conversation taken place?

No idea.

Before, or after this call?

Oh, before.  These notes in the margins, typically I

make them during the conversation.

And why would you have been having a discussion with

him about the Human Rights Policy before this call?

Well, we had personal conversations about a lot of

topics related to race and social justice.

Vice President Jones had been -- was born in 1940, and he was

in the generation that participated in many protests during

the 1960s; he came to the University of Iowa, was hired within

a few years after the Human Rights Policy was promulgated.  He

and I shared a lot of personal discussions about what it was

like during the 1960s protests about civil rights and race

discrimination.  So, in other words, we had a general dialogue

going on about race discrimination, about other forms of

discrimination, and in the context of those conversations he

would mention from time to time the Human Rights Policy.

And do you have any recollection why you would have

made notes about that conversation in connection with this

call?

I don't.

I'm going to ask you to look at the exhibit that's

been marked as Number 43.

(The witness complied.)

Do you recognize this document?

I do; this is a template that my office used in 2004

to record incoming phone calls.  This note shows that Linda

McGuire had called for me; I was out when she called, and she

wanted me to return the call.  Linda McGuire was the associate

dean in the College of Law.  As the associate dean in the

College of Law, she worked with groups like the Christian --

like the CLS and the -- where -- the Message notes, this is my

handwriting, and I made these notes presumably during the

phone call when I called her back.

So the "TB" at the top, that refers to you; is that

correct?

That's right.

Okay.  And then can you read what these notes say.

Okay.  I'll read this verbatim.  "She only uses the

Office of Student Life recognition procedure," parenthetical

phrase, "(her practice) but not sure about past" -- I assume

that's CLS had presence in the law school and "just

discovering some issues & more."  That says "policing

recently," something is crossed out, and the next phrase says

-- hard to decipher here.  Looks like "no old constitution

she's seen.  She's got old handbooks."

Do you recall what was the purpose of this call or

the message?

I don't.  It was January 30th.  I don't know if she

was calling me back to a phone call I had made to her, so -- I

don't know what the purpose was.

And did you have a follow-up conversation with her?

You mean -- I mean I did have a conversation with

her.  I called her back.

Okay.

Are you asking if I had another conversation with

her later?

Well, let's start with, you called her back in

response to this message, correct?

No -- well, I called her back in response to that

she had telephoned and asked me to call her back.

So where it says "Message," are those your notes

from when you called her?

Yes; when she and I spoke on the phone, those were

my notes.

And do you have any recollection of what the

substance of that conversation was?

No.

And did you call her again in response to this

topic?

I don't recall.

I'm going to ask you to look at what's previously

been marked as Exhibit 44.

(The witness complied.)

Are you familiar with this document?

Yes; Exhibit 44 is the first letter I received from

Mr. Nierman following his January 7th, 2004, telephone call;

this document's dated January 30th, 2004.

And did you review this document in preparation for

your deposition?

I did look through it, scan it; I didn't read it

word-for-word.

Do you recall what the essence of the letter was or

why Mr. Nierman was writing you?

Could I take a minute to look through this?

Please.

Okay.  Um --

MR. CARROLL:  Wait for the question.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Have you had a chance to finish reviewing the

document?

Yes.

And do you recall now what the purpose of this

letter was?

Mr. Nierman requests at the end of the letter that
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the University create a -- what he calls a formal written

exemption for religious groups from the religion, creed,

sexual orientation, and gender identity language of the

University's required membership clause.

And this was a result of the Student Organization

Recognition Board's rejection of CLS's constitution in October

of 2003; is that correct?

That's my understanding.

And this is the same issue that -- is this the same

issue that Mr. Nierman called you about previously?

Yes.

And this letter indicates that CLS had been on

campus and recognized as an official student organization at

least since 1980; is that correct?

It --

I'm looking --

Yes, it is; page 2.

Yes.  And you have no reason to question that CLS

had been around campus all that time, correct?

I don't have any reason to question that.

And that same paragraph indicates that the

constitution was rejected because of a technical error in

filling out the recognition form and the failure to include

the University's membership clause in the group's proposed

constitution; is that correct?

That's what Mr. Nierman writes here as I understand

it.

And as far as you know, was that membership clause

the same thing as what we would -- or similar to what we would

now call the Human Rights Policy?

Correct.

Okay.  And then Mr. Nierman was asking for an

exception not to include certain language within that clause,

correct?

That's my understanding of what he was requesting at

the conclusion of his letter.

And specifically he sought an assurance that the

University would create a formal written exception for

religious groups from the religion, creed, sexual orientation,

and gender identity language of the membership clause; is that

correct?

That's my understanding of what he intended when he

wrote that in the last paragraph.

Okay.  And when you received this letter, do you

remember what your reaction was?

Well, my reaction was that I had something concrete

that I could share with my colleagues, and I know that I

distributed this letter to other individuals at the University

of Iowa.  Since the letter was addressed to me and not to

Vice President Jones, I would have shared the letter with

Vice President Jones, and I know I shared it also with

Mark Schantz, the general counsel.

And how do you spell "Schantz"?

"Schantz" is spelled S-c-h-a-n-t-z.

And do you have any recollection of how Dean Jones

responded to this letter?

There was a letter that I drafted on

February 20th --

Before you get to that letter, did you have any

conversations with Dean Jones?

Yes.

And what was the substance of those conversations?

Well, the substance of the conversations were topics

that were outlined in my February 20th email.

And do you have any recollection without looking at

that email what those were?

No.

And you said the date on that email was

February 20th, or March 20th?

Memo; it was a formal letter February 20th.

I'm going to ask you to take a look at the document

that's previously been marked as Exhibit 45; do you recognize

this document?

I do; I looked at it yesterday.

And what is it?

These are notes that I took the -- when I looked at

this yesterday, I didn't see any date, and I didn't see any

names of people who I discussed with.

And you have no further recollection of what this

document is based on the substance perhaps?

Well, the -- some of the names of cases, for

example, indicate -- Widmar, Rosenberger, indicate that

whoever was in this discussion, we were talking about

constitutional law, and Human Rights Policy is mentioned.

Okay.  The -- at the top do you see where it says:

"No judicial decision on point.  In fact, cases demonstrate

we're following principle of content neutrality"; is that

correct?

Correct.

And what was that referring to?

Well, I don't recall what it refers to specifically

in the conversation that was going on.

This document would have referred to the ongoing

issue with CLS, correct?

Correct; it was in the CLS file.

Okay.  And so what principle were you following at

the time of the CLS investigation or issue that arose?

I -- I'm -- I don't know what you mean when you say

"principle."

Okay.  Well, in that note you said "cases
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demonstrate we're following principle of" what looks like

"constitutional" -- or something "neutrality" -- "content

neutrality," correct?

"Following principle of content neutrality."

So what principle were you following at that time or

how were you following a principle of content neutrality?

The -- as I understand the note, it means that the

principle of content neutrality needs to be followed when the

Human Rights Policy is enforced.

Okay.  This says "we are following" in the present

tense, correct?

Correct.

So at the time you wrote this note, did you have an

understanding of what principle you were following or how you

were following it?

Well, I don't -- I don't know specifically what it

applied to because this is not dated.

But you had agreed already that this was concerning

the CLS matter, correct?

Correct.

So you know roughly it would have taken place in

early 2004, correct?

I don't know that for certain.

Okay.  Well, let's walk through this, then, and see

if it triggers your memory.  You see at the top it says:  "It

is discrim behavior to reject students as members based on sex

orientation"?

Correct, that's what I wrote.

Okay.  And do you remember what that was referring

to?

No.

Do you recall if it was referring to the CLS

investigation?

Oh, presumably it was referring to the CLS -- to

Mr. Nierman's letter.

Okay.  And so at this time you believed it was

discriminatory behavior for CLS to reject students as members

based on their sexual orientation, correct?

Yes.

And then do you see the next line; can you read what

that says.

"You're not claiming that you can't select

heterosexuals only as leaders.  You're not claiming unequal

treatment regarding Muslim groups."

Okay.  Does that trigger any memory of what this

conversation was about?

No.

Does that suggest to you that these were notes from

a conversation with Mr. Nierman or someone else representing

CLS?

No, this was not -- to my rec -- I don't recall

having any other conversation with Mr. Nierman on the phone

after the January 7th phone call.

When it says "you're not claiming that you can't

select homosexuals only as leaders," does the "your" suggest

to CLS?

That -- that may be what this -- what the "your"

refers to; yes, it could be CLS.

And would it be your normal habit to refer to "your"

if you weren't having a conversation with that person?

I've -- that -- I have done that before in -- when I

put together notes in an argument that I'm making, I have

before used this style of saying "your," "you are."

Okay.  And can you read what the next sentence says.

"You're claiming that your group has the

constitutional right to discriminate regarding membership."

Can you read the next line, please.

I'm not sure what that is.  Starts out:  "It should

have special privileges to discriminate because it's a

religious organization."

And then the next line, please.

"U of I Human Rights Policy is applied

content-neutral," and then there's those cases that -- Supreme

Court cases, Widmar, Rosenberger; is that Gohn, G-o-h-n?

That's an Eighth Circuit case if that's what that is.

And then the next line, please.

"If we treat you differently, then it's preferential

treatment and viewpoint discrimination."

So were these arguments that you were making in

response to Mr. Nierman's letter?

I can't say for sure.

But that -- is there any reason why this wouldn't be

that?

Again, if I knew who this discussion was -- this

could have even been my own sort of soliloquy of writing notes

to myself in anticipation of typing up a memorandum.

Specifically this was in response to the situation

with CLS, correct?

Correct.

And then can you read what the next line says

starting with the notes in the margin.

"Start.  You have equal access to the Human Rights

Policy is designed to" -- pardon me.  Let me rephrase that.

That's an ampersand.  So the line says:  "Start.  You have

equal access & the Human Rights Policy is designed to ensure

equal access if we're treating you" -- "your group differently

than other groups."

Okay.  And do you recall what point you were trying

to make there?

I don't.
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Okay.  Read the next line.

"Human Rights Policy," says "on applies to

membership"; that -- not sure what that --

Do you think that was supposed to mean "only applies

to membership"?

Could be.

Is that your understanding at that time, that the

Human Rights Policy only applied to membership?

I don't know.

And then the next sentence says what?

"Doesn't require that you agree with philosophy or

definition of sexual orientation."

And the next sentence?

"Doesn't preclude you from asking prospective

officers to subscribe a statement of faith."

And the next sentence?

"Doesn't preclude your group from establishing

reasonable leadership qualifications consistent with the

purpose of your organization."

So this is a fair summary of how you understood the

Human Rights Policy to apply at that time, correct?

No, I wouldn't say that.  Again, I -- because I

don't know the context for me making these notes, I don't know

what my purpose was.

So you might have just been saying these for some

reason that had no relation to the CLS situation?

No, I'm sure these had -- pertained to the CLS

situation.

Okay.  What else might you have meant in saying the

HR Policy doesn't preclude you from asking prospective

officers to subscribe to a Statement of Faith; what else might

you have meant besides that that's how the Human Rights Policy

would be applied at that time?

But -- what I'm saying is that these notes are not

my conclusions.  This -- these notes that I took were thoughts

that I -- in a rough draft.  I was not transcribing what

somebody else was telling me I don't think.  I was writing

down ideas about ways to explain how the Human Rights Policy

applied, but they were not -- these do not necessarily reflect

my conclusions at the time.  My conclusions were reflected in

the February 20th memo.

Okay.  And when you say you were writing a draft,

was this a draft of that letter perhaps?

No; to me a draft of a letter is -- contains

complete sentences.  This may have been -- I mean I sometimes

did an outline of a letter, points that I would include in a

letter, but this is not a draft of a letter.

Okay.  You had mentioned a draft; what did you mean

by that when you said that?

I think you asked me if this was a draft of a

letter.

That's because you mentioned that this might be a

draft of something.

But when I say -- the notes, notes that I took,

whether these were notes I wrote to myself, by myself, whether

these were notes I wrote during a conversation with someone

else, this would have been preparation for typing a formal

letter of the type that was sent on February 20th.  What I

don't know is whether or not these were notes I made before

February 20th or if these were notes that I made after

February 20th.

Little further down in the document it says --

there's an "F" with a circle around it, and then it says "not

a group since 1980"; is that correct?

Correct; and the "F" is my abbreviation for "fact."

And so when it says "fact not a group since 1980?",

question mark, do you remember what you were trying to convey

there?

I don't.

Did you ever find out if CLS had been a group since

1980?

I may have; if I did, I don't remember what the

finding was.

Okay.  And then you see it says page 2:  "Not a

conflict between voting and accepting a member"; do you see

that?

Yes.

And do you know what page 2 would have referred to?

I don't.

The next line -- can you read the next line.

"A homosexual could believe it is sinful to engage

in homosexual sex."

Okay.  And do you know if that was a reflection of

your own beliefs at the time, or someone else's?

I don't know.

Okay.  Is that statement consistent with your

personal beliefs?

MR. CARROLL:  Well, I'm going to object.  This

witness isn't here to testify about his personal beliefs

whether religious-based or anything; you can ask him as a

representative of the University of Iowa, but --

If you're comfortable answering, you can.  If you

don't want to answer it, you don't have to.

MR. BAXTER:  George, we noticed him as a normal

witness.  He's obligated to respond to anything he has

knowledge to.  In addition, he can respond on the specific

topics based on his 30(b)(6) knowledge.

MR. CARROLL:  Right.  He does not have to testify to

his personal beliefs because that is not part of this lawsuit.

MR. BAXTER:  He's required to testify to anything
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that is relevant or can lead to admissible relevant evidence,

and his personal beliefs on this issue are relevant, and I

would like an answer to the question.

MR. CARROLL:  If you're comfortable, you can answer

it, and if not, don't answer it.  We'll address it with a

federal magistrate.

THE WITNESS:  I prefer not to discuss my personal

opinions.

MR. CARROLL:  That's fine.

BY MR. BAXTER:

As a University official, why would that statement

have been important for you to include in these notes?

I don't recall why.

But you obviously thought it was important, correct?

Well, I don't know how -- if I thought it was

important or not.  Again, these are random thoughts on

principles.  I -- so I can't infer 14 years later what my

thought was at the time as to why I wrote it.

Okay.  But you did make these notes in your official

capacity, correct?

Yes.

Okay.  On the bottom do you see where it says:

"Page 3 no right to define membership"?

"On basis of immutable characteristics (e.g. race)."

And then it says:  "Meanwhile - not a recognized

group," correct?

Correct.

And so is it your understanding at this time that

BLinC -- that CLS was not a recognized group?

Yes.  Well, again, I don't know when this was --

when I took these notes.  It could have been that they weren't

a recognized group at the time or it could have meant

something else.

Okay.  And do you have any recollection now of what

"page 3" refers to?

No.

After you received the call from Mr. Nierman and

learned that CLS was being asked to include the full

Human Rights Policy in its constitution, did you take any

other action to ensure that all student constitutions were

reviewed for compliance with the HR Policy?

I don't recall.  I did not.  I don't -- I don't

recall.  I may have looked through some other group

constitutions; I don't have a memory of that.

I'm going to ask you to look at the documents behind

tab 46 and previously labeled as Exhibit 46.

(The witness complied.)

Do you recognize this document?

Yes.

Okay.  What is this?

This was my letter dated February 20th, 2004, in

response to Mr. Nierman's letter to me January 30th.

Okay.  And what was the basic gist of this letter?

This explains the position of the Office of the

Vice President for Student Services with regard to how the

University policy on human rights applies.

I'm going to ask you to look at the third paragraph

toward the middle; do you see the sentence that starts out

"Creed and sexual orientation"?

Correct.

It says that they are specifically listed as

examples of categories that deprive a person from

consideration as an individual, correct?

Correct.

So is it fair to assume that those categories were

included in the Human Rights Policy as it existed at that

time?

Yes.

And did you have an understanding at that time of

what "creed" meant?

I did not have an understanding of what the drafters

of the Human Rights Policy intended.  I would have referred to

the dictionary if I had a question about what "creed"

entailed.

Okay.  Then the next sentence says:  "Religious and

religious affiliation are not specifically identified in the

Policy," correct?

Correct.

Why were they not included alongside other

categories?

The policy when it was promulgated in 1963 was not a

discussion that I was part of.  In the conversations I've had

with various people about the history of the Human Rights

Policy, that question never came up.  The -- I had always

presumed that creed included religious principles and

associations and --

Could it also include nonreligious principles and

association?

Certainly.

I'm going to ask you to flip to the next page of the

document.

(The witness complied.)

The second sentence on this page -- well, the first

sentence says:  "Contrary to your letter, the Human Rights

policy does not prohibit student groups from establishing

membership criteria," correct?

Correct.

And it says:  "A student religious group is entitled

to require a statement of faith as a pre-condition for joining

the group," correct?
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Correct.

And next sentence:  "Asking prospective members to

sign the CLS statement of faith would not violate the UI Human

Rights policy," correct?

Right.

So any group could ask -- at that time any group --

student group could ask a student to sign a Statement of Faith

before letting them join, correct?

I -- that's not what it says here.

How do you understand what it says?

It says:  "A student religious group is entitled to

require a statement of faith," and then it says:  "Asking

prospective members to sign the CLS statement of faith would

not violate the Human Rights policy."

So at that time it was the University's policy that

any religious group could condition membership on a student

signing a Statement of Faith, correct?

I'm not sure what you intend when you say "a

condition of membership."  What this letter says is that they

could require a Statement of Faith as a precondition for

joining the group.

Okay.  So everything in this statement is true,

correct?

Correct.

And was anything changed in the Human Rights Policy

from the time this letter was written to the time of the BLinC

investigation?

I have no idea.

Okay.  And why wouldn't you know that if you were

responsible for investigating student group complaints?

Because I never investigated a Human Rights Policy

complaint.

But if there had been a change of policy, wouldn't

that have fallen under your responsibilities to know that?

It would have fallen under my responsibilities to

find the most recent version of a policy and to use that

applicable version in the investigation, but there's no --

there's no practice of training investigators when a policy

changes.  The training that involves is to know where to go to

find the policy if there is a complaint that's filed that

implicates the policy.

But you weren't just an investigator at that time in

2004; you were the associate dean of students, correct?

That was my title, associate dean of students.

And who at that time would have had responsibility

for any changes in the Human Rights Policy?

I don't know today.  I believe the Human Rights

Policy was part of the Operations Manual, and there's --

anything that's in the Operations Manual there's a protocol

that it goes through to be amended.

Okay.  And what does that protocol involve?

I don't know.

Okay.  And is it your position, then, that there

could have been changes made either to the Human Rights Policy

or to its interpretation that could have been made and nobody

at the University would have informed you about it?

Correct.

Does that surprise you as all, or do you think

that's normal procedure for the University?

I -- given the multitude of proceed -- policies --

excuse me.  Given the multitude of policies, whether it was a

Human Rights Policy or whether it was any other policy, it was

not standard practice to notify every person who is an

associate dean about which policies are being changed.  So,

again, you said your question was whether I was surprised?

Would you be surprised to know that there were

changes to the Human Rights Policy or its interpretation that

wouldn't have been communicated to you?

No, I would not have been surprised because I had

never previously been notified when changes were being

considered.  I was not a person who had a responsibility to

approve a change in the policy.

Okay.  But as best you know, there has been no

change to the Human Rights Policy or its interpretation since

this letter was written; is that correct?

Repeat the question.

As far as you know, has there been any change made

to how the Human Rights Policy was written since you wrote

this letter?

I don't know of any changes.  It wouldn't surprise

me if there had been a change made, but -- in a 15-year time

period.

And as far as you know, have there been any changes

made as to how the Human Rights Policy is interpreted since

this letter was written?

The only thing that sticks out in my mind about a

change in policy interpretation has to do with organizations

that are all male and all female when Philip Jones worked

until 2008, and during the time that Phil Jones was the

vice president, he insisted that the gender component of the

Human Rights Policy be applied to nonresidential groups.  If

-- for example, if there was a prelaw society that only

allowed female members or only allowed male members, he would

have -- he would not have approved of that.  At some point

after Vice President Jones left, it came to my attention

somehow that there was a -- I think there was a music social

fraternity, something like that, that only had male members,

and the group was -- had been recognized, so I -- whoever made

that decision to recognize them as far as I knew had a

different interpretation of the Human Rights Policy.
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So just to make sure I understand, it's your

understanding that Dean Jones would not have allowed that

student group to be registered, correct?

Right, if it's a nonresidential group, the -- so, in

other words, Vice President Jones allowed sororities that were

part of the Greek system meaning that they had a residential

space.

MR. CARROLL:  Would this be a good time to take a

break?

MR. BAXTER:  Sure.

MR. CARROLL:  I mean it's 10:00.  We've been going

an hour and a half.

                           (A recess was taken.)

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  We'll go back on the record.

Before the break, Mr. Baker, we were talking about

Dean Jones' views of sex discrimination as it applied to

residential and nonresidential student groups, correct?

Correct.

And during the break, did you speak to anyone other

than your lawyer concerning this matter?

I didn't speak to anyone.

And did you review any documents?

No.

I believe you testified that Dean Jones would have

prohibited an on-campus group -- I'm sorry, a registered

student organization that was nonresidential meaning that it

was a non-fraternity or sorority from excluding members based

on sex, correct?

Correct.

But there was during that time at least one student

group you were aware of, I think you said a music social

group, that was allowed to discriminate on the basis of sex?

Well, not during the time of Dean Jones.

Okay.  When did they first come on campus?

I have no idea.

What period of time were you referring to when you

said there was that group on campus?

It would have been the time after I -- my office was

moved -- well, when I was separated from the vice president's

office in 2009 when my -- when the Student Conduct Office was

created and they moved the Student Conduct Office, I was no

longer in the vice president's office, and so it would have

been sometime after my moving out of the vice president's

office.

And how was that brought to your attention?

I don't recall.

And during Dean Jones' tenure, was there any effort

to enforce that view that nonresidential groups should not be

allowed to discriminate on the basis of sex?

I don't know what Dean Jones did; I was not present

when he spoke to the CSIL office about the Human Rights

Policy.

Are you referring to a specific conversation you had

with him, or just conversation --

Just conversations in general.

Just let me finish my sentence before you --

Okay.

But he -- during Dean Jones' tenure until -- well,

when did Dean Jones leave the University of Iowa?

July 2008.

And prior to that time did you report to Dean Jones?

Correct.

And if he had sought to enforce his views on sex

discrimination by nonresidential student groups, would you

have been involved in those discussions?

Perhaps but dependent upon what Dean Jones wanted to

do.

Okay.  Who else might he have turned to for that?

Well, the director of what's now the CSIL office.

Okay.  And do you know why Dean Jones made an

exception for fraternities and sororities?

We did not have a conversation about that.  I had

always presumed that it was related to the Title IX

regulations, to the federal Title IX regulations.

And were you ever aware of a situation where a

student group that had a name suggested it was for men or

women only, that that was ever brought to Dean Jones' or your

attention?

I don't ever recall it coming up as a concern.  I

don't ever recall a group being required to change its name

because of gender.

And at that time do you know if there were student

groups that specified in their names that they were for one

gender or another?

Could you repeat the question again.

During Dean Jones' tenure, were you aware that there

were student groups that were for men only or women only other

than fraternities or sororities?

No.

So you weren't aware, for example, if there was a

Women in Engineering club or anything like that?

If there was, it was not something that came to my

attention.

Okay.  I'm going to refer you back to the letter at

tab 46, the large paragraph in the middle that starts out

"Implicit in the Human Rights Policy."

Yes.

Could you take a moment to review that paragraph.

(The witness complied.)  Okay.

This statement indicates that the University's
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policy at that time was that CLS could require its student

members to live by the organization's Statement of Faith,

correct?

Correct; it says -- the last sentence I think

captures this way, it says that:  "You may not refuse to

accept as a member a homosexual law student who professes to

be a Christian and is prepared to sign your organization's

statement of faith and observe the CLS group rules for member

behavior."

So just for clarity, if a member of CLS at that time

had engaged in homosexual conduct and CLS expelled the member

for that policy, it was the University's policy at this time

that that would not violate the Human Right Policy, correct?

I believe at that time that that was my

understanding.

And that was the University's understanding,

correct, in this letter?

Well, I don't know about the University's

understanding.  I mean the Human Rights Committee -- as far as

I know, the Human Rights Committee never weighed in on this.

This was the statement from the Division of Student Life.

Okay.  This was the official statement of the dean

of students, correct?

Correct.

Okay.  And what's the -- you mentioned the

Committee on Human Rights, correct?

Yes.

What's the Committee on Human Rights?

Committee on Human Rights was formed when the human

rights was promulgated in 1963; it was made up of faculty.  I

don't recall if there were students on the committee.  There

may have been students or other staff members, but it was a

group that received complaints, and I don't know exactly how

they function, but it was a standing committee within the

University.

Was it your position that they had final word on how

the Human Rights Policy is interpreted?

I don't know if we even still have a committee.  The

-- I don't -- and I -- I don't recall -- it was never clear to

me what the relationship was between Philip Jones and the

Human Rights Policy Committee.

Okay.  Is it your position that Philip Jones said

something in a letter like this to CLS that it might not have

been the position of the University?

Correct.

He didn't have the authority to speak for the

University.

No, that's not what I said.

Well, did Dean Jones have authority to speak for the

University in writing this letter to CSL -- or CLS?

He did, but --

Okay.  So what he said, then, would have been the

position of the University, correct?

No; it would have been the position of the

vice president for Student Life and dean of students.

Well, you just said he had authority to speak for

the University when he wrote this letter; is that not correct?

No, that's not what I mean when I said he had

authority to speak for the University.  What Dean Jones said

did not mean necessarily that the Human Rights Policy

Committee would agree with him.

So is it your position that CLS could have acted on

this letter and still been deregistered by the University?

It was theoretically possible.

Okay.  So it's your position that you can't rely on

a letter that you get from the dean of students telling the

student group that that student group is registered to be on

campus?

No, I believe they can rely on this letter because

the Dean of Students office is responsible for overseeing

student organization recognition.

Okay.  Then why do you think that a -- that a

separate committee could come and counteract what the dean

said?

Could you repeat your question.

Sure.  You just told me that Dean Jones had

authority to speak for the University on this issue that a

student group could rely on what he said in this letter but

that a Committee on Human Rights that existed at the time

could have ignored what he said and deregistered the student

group; is that correct?

Well, I'm not sure if the committee would have

deregistered the group.  The committee could have heard the

complaint from what I understand.

Okay.  And they could have changed the policy as it

was interpreted by Dean Jones?

Possibly.  That was a possibility I -- never came

up.

And to be clear, no one ever did correct what

Dean Jones said in this letter, correct?

Correct.

So as far as you know, this is the final word from

the University on what HR Policy meant at the time this letter

was written.

Correct.

I'm going to ask you to look at the document that's

been previously marked as Exhibit 47.

(The witness complied.)

Do you recognize this document?

Yes.
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What is it?

This is a document signed by Dean Jones dated

April 30th; it's addressed to Steven Aden who by this time had

taken over representation of CLS.  This is a letter that

explained that the group was eligible now to be re-recognized

as long as they resubmitted their revised constitution.

Okay.  And you were cc'd on this letter, correct?

Correct.

Did you help draft it?

I did help draft it.

Okay.  Do you see in the second paragraph, the third

sentence reads:  "As long as prospective members are treated

as individuals and not categorically barred from applying for

membership, organizational leaders may require members to

accept the CLS statement of faith as a condition for

participation"; you see that?

Yes.

What was meant by "as long as they were not

categorically banned"?

Categorically banned meaning that if someone

self-identified as being gay, that they would not refuse

membership simply because they self-identified as being gay.

Okay.  But they could be denied membership if they

lived actively as a gay individual, correct?

If that's what the CLS Statement of Faith said.

Okay.  And as far as you know, there's been no

change to that understanding of the Human Rights Policy since

April 30, 2004, correct?

I don't know of any change.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to take a look at the

document that's been identified as Number 51.

(The witness complied.)

Do you recognize this document?

I looked at it yesterday.  This, of course, pertains

to Iowa State University.

Okay.  Do you know why this was produced?

It was in the CLS file.  Because of the passage of

time, I don't require (sic) why I put this in the CLS file in

my files.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look at the document

that's been identified as Number 53.

(The witness complied.)

Do you know what this document -- are you familiar

with this document?

This is the October 21, 2008, memo?

Correct.

Okay.  Yeah, the -- let me --

MR. CARROLL:  We don't have -- I don't -- not

sure --

//////////

BY MR. BAXTER:

So this is a single-page document, correct?

Oh, I guess it is.

Is it your understanding that there should have been

a second page?

I don't know.  I did look at this yesterday, and I

don't remember if there was a second page or not.

Okay.  Did this come from your file?

This was in my CLS file.

Okay.  And could you -- we'll make a note of this,

but could you check to make sure there's not a second page to

this document.

Will do.

Okay.  And do you recognize what this document is?

Give me just a few minutes -- a few seconds to

reread this.

Okay.  The gist of this October 21, 2008, memo is in

the last sentence of the second paragraph where it says:

"Once the student budget committee has made a preliminary

determination with respect to the CLS funding request, please

inform my office immediately before communicating the

determination to CLS"; this memo was -- comes from Dr. Rocklin

who had been as of October 2008 vice president for Student

Services and dean of students for about three months.

Had he taken Dean Jones' position?

Correct.

And why -- do you know why this letter -- were you

involved in the drafting of this letter?

I did talk with Dr. Rocklin about issues going on at

the time.  I don't recall who drafted this.

Okay.  And what were the issues going on at the

time?

Well, there was a concern, as I recall, that CLS

might be denied funding by the Student Budgeting Committee,

and so the -- this memo went to the financial officers

clarifying that CLS should be treated as any other student

group and that their request for funding should be processed

in a content-neutral manner.

Do you remember why there was a question about CLS

getting student funding?

I don't recall specifically.  I have a memory that

there were some students within Student Government who wanted

CLS to be derecognized or defunded.

And do you know why they wanted -- why they were

targeting CLS?

I don't recall in this specific time in 2008.  There

were a number of times between 2006 or 2007 and 2008, but my

memory is is that the student organization leader -- pardon

me, the Student Government leader -- some of the Student

Government leaders who wanted CLS to be deregistered or
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defunded objected to the information in their constitution

about sexual relationships outside of marriage.

And do you remember, how did that come to the

attention of the dean's office?

I believe it was somebody in the CSIL office got

wind that there were some people who objected to CLS as a

group.

And what was the position of the dean and his office

in response to those issues?

Well, the dean's position was that the student --

was to, first of all, remind the student group of the -- of

their responsibility as University agents to comply with

constitutional standards, and so this letter was written the

way that it was to enable the Student Budget Committee members

to do the right thing with -- as background guidance, and

so -- in other words, the Budgeting Committee still has to

decide what -- I mean the Budget Committee dynamic is that

there's always more requests for money than there is money in

the pot, and so every group or just about every group was

scrutinized -- the budget requests were scrutinized carefully,

and oftentimes the amount that they requested was not granted

in full, so what -- what's going on here from an

administrative standpoint is that the vice president says, "I

want to" -- "tell me what your preliminary determination is

with respect to their funding, and don't communicate your

decision to CLS until someone has had a chance to review your

preliminary decision."

And what was the reason for that preliminary review?

To make sure that there was not an apparent

constitutional infraction.

So at the time of this letter it was the position of

the dean's office, of Dean Rocklin's office, that the

constitution required equal access to funding without

consideration of CLS's viewpoints, correct?

Correct; as long as the student group was

recognized, they had -- they have the same rights to -- access

to funding.

Okay.  And as far as you know, the University of

Iowa continues to comply with the Constitution in that regard,

correct?

Correct.

I'll ask you to turn the page if I need you to.

I'm going to ask you to look at the document

identified as 54.

(The witness complied.)

Do you recognize this document?

I scanned this document yesterday; this is a series

of emails Patrick Cebrzynski emailed -- Patrick was the chief

financial officer of U of I Student Government.  Several --

going through the pages on Exhibit 54.

So this -- so the message from Patrick was dated

October 26th, so this was five days after the memo from

Dr. Rocklin had been issued, so my understanding is that this

was the response by UISG to the October 21 memo.

And if you look at the second page of this document,

number 1415 at the bottom --

Yes.

-- at the very bottom from Templeton, Richard says:

"Only activity listed in query back to FYO4 is January through

June 2007," so this appears to be a look back at what funding

CLS received; is that correct?

I honestly don't know what exactly that reference

is.  This is not an area of administration that I was ever

involved in.

Okay.  And then right above that you see where

Patrick forwarded the email to you?

Uh-huh.

Have you read that?

Are you asking if I read it in 2008?

I'm asking if you are familiar with what's in this

document right now, this email.

I mean I'm familiar with the fact that there was

information forwarded to me.

Do you know what that information was or why it was

being forwarded to you?

It was being forwarded to me as part of the

information in the October 21 memo.

As I understood your description of the October 21

memo, the purpose was to make sure that going forward, CLS

would have equal access to funding, and this appears to be a

look back -- in some places it says fiscal year 2007 or 2004,

and I'm wondering why there was a look back into the funding

of CLS for that period.

I don't know.

Okay.  And then at the very top you -- Bill Nelson

forwarded a portion of this email again saying:  "FYI below

re:  CLS and UISG supplemental funding"; do you know what that

refers to?

This is the --

The first document.

Okay.  No.

Ask you to look at Document 55.

(The witness complied.)

Are you familiar with this document?

Let me look at it quickly.

Yes, I did scan this yesterday.  So the series of

email messages that I believe originated with Jonathan Landon

-- and Jonathan on the second page identifies himself as the

president of the CLS, and the date of this email is October 9,

2008, so this -- Mr. Landon's email which he sent to Maison
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Bleam who at that time was the president of UISG, Student

Government -- this predates the October 21 memo, and so on

October 9 Mr. Landon sent this to Mr. Bleam, then Mr. Bleam

says:  "I will have Abby Gruel (phonetic) contact you

regarding the issue," and then the last thread here is that

Dr. Nelson is -- who was copied on -- I don't know when

Dr. Nelson was copied, but -- oh, I'm sorry.  Mr. Bleam, the

president of UISG, forwarded this to Dr. Nelson on October

17th, and then Dr. Nelson forwarded it to me with no message.

Okay.  And I'm going to ask you to look at Document

Number 56.

(The witness complied.)

And you see at the bottom of this page where it says

"from Patrick," sent Thursday, October 23rd?

October 23rd?

And then there's nothing on the second -- there's no

second page, correct?

Oh, I see.  Yeah, so October 23rd would have been

two days after the memo was sent.

Okay.  And it appears that there's more to this

email that should be included here, correct?

Yeah, I -- everything -- we can double-check, but I

noticed yesterday when I looked through the documents that I'm

not sure that we had a complete record that was put in the

file in 2008.  So I'll check to see if we do have a second

page, but it's possible that we don't.

Okay.  And you think that this is something that you

pulled from your hard file, not from your electronic files?

I don't know.  The -- I believe this was from my

hard files.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  I'm just going to request for

the record -- we'll make note of it -- that a complete copy of

this email be produced either from the hard file or from the

University's electronic files.

MR. CARROLL:  If it exists.

BY MR. BAXTER:

I'm going to ask you to take a look at Exhibit

Number 57.

(The witness complied.)

Okay.  Do you recognize this document?

Okay.  This is dated October 28th, 2008; this is a

memo from Dr. Rocklin to Patrick Cebrzynski and Michael

Currie, the same two government leaders who he wrote to on

October 21.  So this is a week after the October 21 memo, and

the second -- the gist of this memo is that he says:  "Please

proceed to allocate funds to cover the $550 in expenses in a

timely manner, and notify me when the funds have been

disbursed."

So do you know what happened between October 21st

and October 28th that necessitated this letter?

I mean there were a series of emails shared.  There

was discussion involving Dr. Nelson.  I -- that -- Carroll

Reasoner is copied on this letter.  I assume that the General

Counsel's office was consulted with, but the -- the

information that was reviewed indicated that there may not

have been an equitable distribution of funds, and so that's

why Dr. Rocklin wrote this memo; that's my understanding.

And do you know if this is a separate issue or the

same issue that was addressed in the October 21st memo?

I believe it's the same issue, but I could be wrong.

Ask you to look at Document Number 58.

(The witness complied.)

Do you know what this document is?

Yes, I scanned through this yesterday; this is a

document -- I'm not sure if it's a letter or electronic mail,

but it's signed by Elizabeth Van Deusen who is the president

of an organization of students at the University of Iowa

College of Law called the OutLaws.  There is also a reference

at the top of the letter to -- I think these are three other

student organizations at the law college, Law Students for

Reproductive Justice, Iowa Campaign For Human Rights, and

American Constitution Society.

Did you receive or review this communication at or

around the time that it was sent?

It was dated February 26th, 2009; I do recall that I

read this.  I just don't recall when I read it.

But you read it sometime prior to this litigation?

To the BLinC litigation?

Correct.

Yes.

And do you know how the OutLaws group would have

known about the funding decision that was made with respect to

CLS?

I don't.

Is that information published?

I assume it is.

You don't have any personal knowledge of whether it

is or not?

I don't.

Okay.  And do you know what action the University

took in response to this letter?

I don't recall off the top of my head.  I --

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look at Document

Number 59.

(The witness complied.)

And this is a single-page document with no

signature, correct?

(No response.)

Do you recognize this document?

I do.  I think like the document that we referenced
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a few minutes ago, this was just one page.  We may want to

double-check to make sure there's not a second page.

I'm going to ask you to take a look at a document

that's been previously identified as Number 220; I believe

it's in the back folder of the second binder.

MR. CARROLL:  I'm only going to two --

MR. BAXTER:  I think there wasn't a number for it.

I think it's in the back envelope -- or the back pocket.

MR. CARROLL:  Yeah.

BY MR. BAXTER:

And that is marked Exhibit 220, correct?

Okay.

Is this that same document with the second page?

Yes.

And could you describe what this document is.

So this is a letter dated March 6th which would have

been about ten days after Ms. Van Deusen wrote the letter to

Mike Currie.  The letter is signed by Tom Rocklin, not by

Michael Currie.  The letter is addressed to the president of

the four organizations, so it's addressed not just to

Ms. Van Deusen but to the president and co-presidents of the

Lawsuit for Reproductive Justice, Iowa Campaign for Human

Rights, and the American Constitution Society.  This is

Dr. Rocklin's explanation that -- as to why the CLS is a

recognized group and what it means for them to be a recognized

group in terms of equal access to funding.

And have you had a chance to review this letter in

preparation for your deposition?

Yes.

Okay.  And this letter affirms what was in your

February 2004 letter that the policy on human rights does not

prohibit student groups from establishing membership criteria,

correct?

Well, I'm going to reread this 2009 memo and see if

it references membership criteria.  Yes, it does in the second

paragraph.

Okay.

Talks about the policy does not prohibit student

groups from establishing membership criteria.

And then it says -- the next sentence states the

Democrats are not required to admit self-identified

Republicans, correct?

Correct.

And that while the Human Rights Policy does prohibit

discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, the

University is obliged to protect the First Amendment rights of

CLS to espouse the group's basic tenets, right?

Correct.

And as you state there -- or the author here states

that the First Amendment protects student group's right to

have a Statement of Faith as a precondition for joining the

group, correct?

Yes.

And that the CLS, towards the end of that paragraph,

can require prospective members to adhere to group rules in

order to become members, correct?

So you're saying later on in the document --

Where it says:  "The current CLS constitution does

state that prospective members must adhere to group rules in

order to become members," correct?

Correct.

And then it goes on to say that:  "This membership

expectation cannot be nullified by the University in a manner

that violates the First Amendment."

Correct.

So at this time you knew that CLS had a

First Amendment right to have membership requirements for its

student members, correct?

No, that's not what that says.  It says that the

group's membership expectations cannot be nullified in a

manner that violates the First Amendment.

Yeah, but you said before that that current

First Amendment -- the letter says that the current

First Amendment caselaw applies when a group's -- sorry,

applies when a student religious group establishes a Statement

of Faith as a precondition for joining the group, correct?

That's what Dr. Rocklin wrote.

Okay.  Was it your understanding at this time that

the University's policy was that CLS had a constitutional

right to require its members to sign a Statement of Faith

before they could be members?

Well, that issue of law had never been tested in the

courts as far as I know.  Are you asking me for what my

opinion was in 2009?

Correct.

Well, I think -- I think this paragraph is worded

the way it is to clarify that -- it doesn't state explicitly

that student religious groups have a First Amendment right to

regulate their membership.  It does say that the

First Amendment applies when a student religious group

establishes a Statement of Faith as a precondition for joining

the group.

Okay.  So this letter was written in response to a

decision or an effort by the Student Government to defund CLS,

correct?

Trying to remember if they were trying to defund CLS

or get them derecognized.  Do you want me to look back at

the --

Well, either way, it was in response to an effort by

the Student Government to either derecognize or defund CLS,
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correct?

Well, not to Student Government.  This is from a

student organization, so this is a group that has a lateral

status to the CLS.

And that group was protesting the University's

funding of CLS, correct?

I believe so.

Do you want to look back at that letter?

Okay.

That's Exhibit 58?

Yes; the last paragraph Ms. Van Deusen wrote:  "It

must discontinue funding to CLS."

And that's referenced in the March 6th letter of

Exhibit 59 that says:  "Your petition requests that no funds

be allocated to the Christian Legal Society whose group

constitution you believe violates the Human Rights Policy."

Correct.

And then the University goes on to say that it would

-- or it's fair to say, isn't it, that this letter then goes

on to suggest that denying Christian Legal Society funding

would violate the First Amendment?

To suggest that it would violate the

First Amendment?

The OutLaws organization was asking the University

to deny funding to CLS, correct?

Yes.

And this memo indicates that the University would

not do that, correct?

Correct.  What Dr. Rocklin's letter says on page 2

in the second paragraph is that:  "It is my understanding that

a decision by the University to restrict or not restrict the

CLS's funding status based on the content of the CLS

constitution must be made consistent with the First

Amendment."

And so the decision was not to deny funding,

correct?

Correct.

And so this suggests that was done to be consistent

with the First Amendment, correct?

I'm not sure if Dr. Rocklin would -- I don't know

what he was -- he believed at the time that he wrote this

letter.

Did you believe at the time this letter was written

that it would violate the First Amendment to deny CLS funding

in response to the OutLaws request?

The -- let me go back -- can I reread the OutLaws

document?

No, I'm just asking a question, if OutLaws wrote to

the University asking it to defund CLS because of its

religious views, at that time would you believe it would be a

violation of the First Amendment to deny CLS funding in

response to the OutLaws group's request?

It depends on what the OutLaws group or any other

group was alleging about CLS.  If they allege that CLS was

categorically treating homosexuals as nonmembers without

regard to whether they were engaged in sex outside of

marriage, then the OutLaws' request could have resulted in the

CLS being denied funds.

Okay.  But the University didn't deny the funds,

correct?

On -- yes; after reviewing the OutLaws letter, the

University did not change the CLS status.

And why not?  Without reading the letter, just why

would the University have denied the OutLaws' request?  What's

your understanding of why the University denied the request?

Because -- my understanding is that because the

content of the OutLaws' letter did not indicate that CLS was

doing anything that was contrary to the expectations that were

laid down in 2004.

And what's your understanding of what the OutLaws

letter did allege?

The OutLaws letter, to my understanding, alleged

that because of CLS' religious tenets prohibited sex outside

of marriage, that that violated the Human Rights Policy.

Okay.  And this letter indicates that it didn't,

correct?

Well, it doesn't say -- I mean this was a letter

that did not share the details of the 2004 decision with them.

What -- this was a letter that was addressed to this

particular group of student organization leaders.  It did not

go into detail about the CLS promise not to discriminate

categorically against homosexual students in 2004.

And this letter doesn't address that, right?

Correct.

It only addresses the allegations that OutLaws made,

correct?

Right.

So at this time you were aware -- or you indicated

that you helped write this letter, correct?

I don't recall what my role was as far as I knew.  I

was in the office during the week when this was discussed.  I

don't know exactly what my role was.

At this time -- do you remember being aware of this

issue at the time?

Yes.

And are you -- do you remember being aware what the

University's position was at the time?

I recall knowing the position of

Vice President Rocklin with regard to the letter from the

OutLaws.
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Okay.  And you were familiar with the content of the

letter, correct?

This letter -- you mean before it went out?

Before it went out.

I can't say for certain that I saw the last draft.

Okay.  At the time that this went out, was there

anything in this letter that you would have disagreed with?

I don't know.

Okay.  As you read it now, is there anything in this

letter that you disagree with?

I don't believe so.  I mean it simply says that

decisions have to be made consistent with the Constitution on

the Human Rights Policy.

So at both the time of your 2004 letter and this

2009 letter, it was the position of the University that

religious organizations could categorically discriminate on

the basis of religious belief, correct?

No.  No, they -- belief was that a religious student

organization could require that members agree to the group's

tenets as long as the group's tenets did not categorically

prohibit gay students from becoming members.

Is that in this letter that you've written that

distinction, this letter that we're discussing, the

March 2009, letter?

No.  As I said a few minutes ago, this letter was --

does not talk about the issue of a member's conduct.  This is

addressed to student organization leaders who are not aware of

the 2004 understanding, and it doesn't explain to them those

details.

Okay.  In 2009 at the time this letter was written,

if a Muslim group had required students to sign a Statement of

Faith asserting loyalty to the profit Muhammad and a Christian

student refused to sign that statement so the Muslim group

denied them membership, that would have been permissible under

the Human Rights Policy, correct?

The reason I'm hesitating is that I'm not sure what

it means to acknowledge Muhammad; I don't know if that comes

with some --

Well, it doesn't matter what it means.  If a Muslim

organization required students to sign a Statement of Faith

that they -- that they were expressing their loyalty to the

profit Muhammad and a Christian student wanted to join the

group but refused to sign the statement and was excluded for

that reason, that would have been consistent with the Human

Rights Policy at this time, correct?

Well, again, I don't know about the profit Muhammad.

If the Muslim organization had required prospective members to

sign a statement saying that they believe that they are Muslim

and a Christian student refused to sign the statement saying

that they are Muslim, then my understanding is that that would

have been consistent with the Human Rights Policy that the

Muslim organization would have had a right under the

Human Rights Policy to not accept the Christian as a member of

the organization; they still would have had to have allowed a

Christian or anyone else to attend meetings.

So that would be -- denying them membership in that

instance, though, would be religious discrimination, correct?

I'm not sure what you mean by "religious

discrimination."  It would have been -- it would have been a

denial based on their unwillingness to sign the Statement of

Faith.

So what if the Muslim group had just said "no

Christians allowed"; would that have violated the Human Rights

Policy?

I don't know.  It would have raised an issue

certainly.

So would you consider that to be religious

discrimination?

Well, in a general sense of the word "religious

discrimination," yes.  If any organization says that you have

to subscribe to a certain religious organization, then that

would be treating people differently on the basis of their

religious beliefs, but --

Okay.  And if you -- if a student organization asks

students to sign a Statement of Faith to join the group, that

would also be religious discrimination, correct?

The word "discrimination" means different things to

different people; that's why I'm hesitating.

Well, I want you to use it as the word is applied in

the University interpreting its Human Rights Policy.  You've

already indicated that it would be discrimination for a

religious group to exclude members of other faiths, correct?

Of -- if the Kiwanis --

I'm not talking about the Kiwanis.  I'm talking

about a religious organization.  If a religious organization

on campus excludes from membership individuals who are of a

different religion, you've already indicated that that would

be discrimination and that it would be permissible under the

Human Rights Policy.

No, I don't agree with that the way you phrased it.

Okay.  So why don't you rephrase it the way you

understood what you were saying.

(No response.)

Would you like me to re-ask the question?

Yes.

Okay.  If a Muslim group on campus requires members

to be Muslim, is that discrimination -- religious

discrimination under the Human Rights Policy?

I would say no because the word "discrimination" I

don't think appears in the Human Rights Policy, and the word
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"religion" doesn't appear in the Human Rights Policy.

Your position is that the word "religion" doesn't

appear in the Human Rights Policy?

Right; as we discussed earlier, it's considered

within the category of creed, so people at the University have

a right not to be treated differently on the basis -- well,

have a right to be treated as individuals, and if people are

treated differently because of their religious beliefs, that

could be a violation of the Human Rights Policy.

So is it your position that it's okay to

discriminate on the basis of religion under the Human Rights

Policy but not on the basis of creed?

I'm sorry, say that again.

Well, you just indicated that the Human Rights

Policy only prohibits discrimination on the basis of creed and

so that someone -- if someone discriminated on the basis of

religion, that wouldn't violate the Human Rights Policy.

No, I didn't say --

You said it might not violate --

That's a non sequitur.

Well, tell me what you mean.  Why do you think it's

not discrimination if a Muslim group excludes Christians as

members?

I didn't say that it wasn't.  I said it depends on

the circumstances, but the human --

What circumstances does it depends on?

That's too general of a question.

I'll ask you again.  If a Muslim group excludes

students who are Christians from membership, is that religious

discrimination in violation of the Human Rights Policy?

Well, it's -- from my understanding about the Human

Rights Policy, it could be, probably would be a violation of

the Human Rights Policy depending upon the details of the

case.

Well, tell me what details would make a difference.

If a Muslim group is excluding Christian students, when would

that be okay, and when wouldn't it be okay?

You're asking me to speculate?

Well, you're responsible, right, for understanding

the Human Rights Policy as it applies to student

organizations, correct?

No, I'm not; I'm the Title IX investigator at the

University of Iowa.

And you previously investigated any complaints

against student groups, right?

Previously until 2009.

Well, didn't you participate in the investigation of

the BLinC matter?

I -- yes; I attended meetings that Connie had, some

of the interviews.

And you participated in the investigation of the

24:7 matter, correct?

Yes, attended those meetings.

And is it your position that you participated

without understanding what the Human Rights Policy is?

Could you repeat that question.

Is it your position that you participated in those

investigations without any understanding of what the

Human Rights Policy means?

Well, sure, I have an understanding of what the

Human Rights Policy means, but what -- I was not the

investigator of that case.  That case was investigated by

EOD, Connie Cervantes, who is the investigator trained to

interpret the Human Rights Policy.

And you were the investigator for the CLS matter,

right?

Well, there was not a complaint filed in 2004.

But you were involved in interpreting -- applying

the Human Rights Policy to the CLS situation, right?

I did, but there was no investigation.

So is it your position that you didn't have to

understand what the Human Rights Policy was at that time?

I'm gonna ask for a break.

I would like you to answer the question, and then

you can have a break.

MR. CARROLL:  Yeah, you have to answer a pending

question.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Could you repeat the question.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Is it your position that when you were participating

in the review of the CLS matter, that you did so without an

understanding of what the Human Rights Policy meant?

I had a general understanding of what the Human

Rights Policy meant in 2004.

And that policy prohibited discrimination on the

basis of religion, correct?

The policy protected individual students from being

treated on the basis of categories including their creed.

And that matter, the CLS matter, involved CLS's

desire to select its members based on their religious belief,

correct?

Please repeat the question.

The CLS matter involved CLS's desire to select its

members based on their religious beliefs, correct?

Yes.

So presumably at that time you had an understanding

of what it meant to discriminate on the basis of religious

belief, correct?

I had a general understanding, yes.

Okay.  And you've already testified that the policy
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-- as far as you know, that policy -- how the HR Policy -- I'm

sorry, how the Human Rights Policy is construed has not

changed since that time, correct?

I did not testify to that.

Okay.  What did you testify to?

What I said was that I do not know if the policy has

been amended, and I do not know for certain if the

interpretation of the policy has changed.  I mentioned that I

became aware that there was a single-gender group that had

been recognized, but I'm not a spokesperson for the

Human Rights Policy.

And as I --

MR. CARROLL:  Just a minute.  You did ask for a

break.  Do you still want a break?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

MR. CARROLL:  Because I believe there is no pending

question.

                         (A recess was taken.)

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  We'll go back on the record.

Mr. Baker, I'm going to ask -- well, during the

break did you speak with anyone other than your attorney?

I did not speak with anyone.

And did you review any documents?

No.

I'm going to ask you to look at the document that's

been identified as Exhibit Number 40.

(The witness complied.)

You previously mentioned that you were not familiar

with this document?

I didn't recall it.

Okay.  Are you familiar it?

I'm not familiar with it today.  I may have been

familiar with it in 1999.

This is a letter from Aaron Dixon and Dan Kidney to

Dean Jones, correct?

Correct.

And if you look on the first page in the third

paragraph, it says -- identifies language that CLS was

required to put in its constitution, correct?

Correct.

And it says -- it includes that:  "In no aspect of

its program shall there be any difference in the treatment of

persons because of race, national origin, color, creed,

religion," and so forth, correct?

Correct, it does say "religion" there.

So is it still your position that religion was not

in the Human Rights Policy as of 1999?

I don't know.  I'd have to go back and look.  This

could be a mistake, I suppose.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look at what's been

identified as Document Number 14.

(The witness complied.)

And do you recognize this document?

I do and I don't.  What I don't recognize is what

year it was applicable.

If I represented to you that this is the current

version of the Registration of Student Organizations Policy as

of the time of the BLinC investigation, do you have any reason

off the face of the document to question that?

No.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to turn to the second

page.

(The witness complied.)

The first full paragraph below the indented

paragraphs, do you see that paragraph?

Yes.  "Membership"?

Correct.  And is that an accurate reflection of the

University's Human Rights Policy?

Well, I -- since I don't know -- I'm not the keeper

-- I'm not the archivist for the Human Rights Policy, but if

this is the current document and if this is correct and -- it

says:  "Membership and participation in the organization must

be open to all students without regard to race, creed, color,

religion, national origin, age, sex, pregnancy, disability,

genetic information, status as a U.S. veteran, service in the

U.S. military, sexual orientation, gender identity,

associational preferences, or any other classification that

deprives a person of consideration as an individual."

Okay.  And do you have any reason to question that

is the Human Rights Policy at the University?

I don't believe so.

Are you familiar with it enough that you would

recognize it when you saw it?

Yes.

And then I'm going to ask you to look at the

document that's been previously identified as Document

Number 46.

(The witness complied.)

I'm going to ask you to look at the second page of

that document, and you wrote this letter, correct?

Yes.

Okay.  And the very top -- the very second full

sentence says:  "A student religious group is entitled to

require a statement of faith as a pre-condition of joining the

group," correct?

Correct.

And asking prospective members to sign the CLS

Statement of Faith would not violate the Human Rights Policy,

correct?

Correct.

App 0025

Case 3:17-cv-00080-SMR-SBJ   Document 71-2   Filed 10/22/18   Page 27 of 257

JA 0400



26 of 68 sheets Page 98 to 101 of 222 

So this was you interpreting the Human Rights Policy

as it applied to a religious Statement of Faith, correct?

Interpreting the Human Rights Policy in conversation

with my supervisor, Dean Jones.

Well, you wrote this letter, correct?

Correct.

Is there anything in this letter you wrote that you

didn't agree with?

No, but I formulated the arguments in this letter in

consultation with my supervisor, Dean Jones.

Okay.  But you knew at this time how the

Human Rights Policy would apply to a student group that had a

religious Statement of Faith.

Right, as far as Dean Jones understood it.

So this is just Dean Jones' understanding, not your

own.

No.

Well, is this consistent with your understanding, or

not?

My understanding -- in 2004, my understanding of the

Human Rights Policy was consistent with what Dean Jones

believed.

And that's what you wrote in this letter.

That's what I wrote in the letter.

So that was your personal views as well as

Dean Jones' views.

When you say "personal views," I'm --

Well, did you have a separate view from what the

University's view was?

This was my understanding in regard to my official

capacity at the time.

Okay.  And so if -- so you were in agreement at that

time as an employee of the University that a religious

organization could exclude students from membership based on

their religion, correct?

That's not what this says in this letter, based on

their religion --

Well, what does it say in that letter?

MR. CARROLL:  Let's -- let everybody finish.

BY MR. BAXTER:

What does that letter -- what do those statements

say that you describe?  Without reading them, what's your

understanding of what they mean?

What they mean is that if a religious organization

wishes to do so, that they can ask members to sign a Statement

of Faith.

And they can exclude members who refuse to sign the

Statement of Faith, correct?

Correct.

And in a general term, that is a form of religious

discrimination, correct?

That's not what this letter says.

Well, I'm just asking you.  I'm not asking you what

the letter says.  If a religious student group excludes

individuals who don't share its religion, that's one example

of religious discrimination, correct?

Using the term "discrimination" in a general way, I

would agree with that.

Okay.  And that's allowed under the University of

Iowa Human Rights Policy, correct?

It doesn't specifically say that in the Human Rights

Policy, but that's how it was interpreted in 2004.

Okay.  And as far as you know, there's been no

change in that interpretation since 2004.

Correct.

Now, you've previously indicated that the University

could not force an environmentalist group to select a climate

denier as its leader, correct?

Is there --

MR. CARROLL:  Are you talking about testimony today?

MR. BAXTER:  I'm not talking about testimony today.

Do you recall meeting with the BLinC leaders on

November 1st --

Oh, you attended that meeting too.

Yes.

I may have said that; I don't have a specific

recollection.

Okay.  Do you believe -- is it your view under the

Human Rights Policy that an environmentalist group can exclude

climate deniers from membership in their organization?

I believe the answer is yes, as long as they're not

categorically discriminating against that individual in any

other way that would deny them consideration as an individual.

Okay.  Well, what -- the Human Rights Policy

prohibits discrimination on the basis of creed, correct?

The Human Rights Policy does not contain the word

"discrimination."  The Human Rights Policy states that an

individual cannot be deprived of consideration as an

individual.

Well, it says membership must be open to all

students without regard to creed, correct?

It says that an individual cannot be treated

differently on the basis of creed.

Okay.  Let's turn back to Exhibit 14 which I'm

representing to you as a copy of the University's Human Rights

Policy pulled from its website and affirmed by Bill Nelson as

the Human Rights Policy as it applies to student

organizations, and the first full paragraph after the indented

section says:  "Membership and participation in the

organization must be open to all students without regard to
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race, creed," and goes on, correct?

Uh-huh.

Okay.  Now, I'm going to ask -- so you agree that on

its face, this policy says that membership cannot be limited

based on creed.

That's what it says.

Okay.  And is it your understanding that that's how

the University applies the policy?

I don't know how the policy is applied.

Okay.  Well, do you -- I'm going to ask you to turn

to Exhibit 37.

(The witness complied.)

I'm going to make sure the number I have is -- yeah,

37; this is a document entitled "University of Iowa Policy on

Human Rights," correct?

Yes.

And it appears to have been authored by Tiffini

Stevenson?

Earl, correct.

And do you know who Tiffini Stevenson Earl is?

I do.

And who is she?

She's worked in the EOD office for a long period of

time as a compliance specialist.  She is the supervisor to

Connie Cervantes.

And does she report to you in any capacity?

No.

Is she someone who's authorized by the University to

interpret the Human Rights Policy?

I don't know that anybody is authorized to interpret

the Human Rights Policy.

She offers to train others on the meaning of the

Human Rights Policy?

Yes, that's correct.

I'd like you to flip through the page that's marked

935 at the bottom, and this mentions creed discrimination,

correct?

That's what it says, creed discrimination.

And this is in a document about the Human Rights

Policy, correct?

Correct.

So apparently the Human Rights Policy must address

some issues concerning discrimination, correct?

You're asking me for my personal opinion?

Sure.

Well, like I say, the word "discrimination" doesn't

appear in the Human Rights Policy.

Does the Human Rights Policy prohibit any

discrimination?

It prohibits treating people differently on the

basis of categories that deny them being treated as an

individual.

Okay.  For shorthand, can we agree to call that

discrimination, or would you like me to use the full phrase

every time?

Well, if you want to use the term "discrimination"

as I understand it, with that understanding, then, yes, I

will --

Okay.  I'm talking about discrimination is the

conduct prohibited by the face of the Human Rights Policy;

does that make sense?

Correct.

So this defines creed as -- if you look in the

third -- the smaller text, it says:  "Any strongly held

philosophical beliefs, even if not a recognized religion,"

correct?

That's what she wrote.

Do you have any reason to think that that is not

what a creed is?

That's one subgroup.

Okay.  And another subgroup would be a formal

statement of religious belief or confession of faith, correct?

Correct.

Or a system of believed principles or opinions?

Yes.  I -- it looks like -- I don't know how Tiffini

presented this in her training, but it looks like she

qualified it with the term "strongly held philosophical

beliefs."

Well, that one sub-definition she qualified,

correct?

Yes.

So a system of believed principles or opinions isn't

necessarily qualified?

I don't know how she explained it to --

But under this definition, strongly-held beliefs

about the environment would be a creed, correct?

Yeah -- well, it could be.  I mean the -- yes.  I

would say yes.

Okay.  And strongly-held beliefs about

transgenderism would be a creed, correct?

I assume so.

And strongly-held beliefs about religion can be a

creed, correct?

Yes.

And this policy, the Human Rights Policy, would have

to be consistently applied across all of those types of

creeds, correct?

You're asking me -- I don't understand your

question.  You're asking me for my opinion about

First Amendment law?
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I'm asking if you were applying that Human Rights

Policy, would you want to make sure it was applied equally to

all different types of creeds?

If I was applying the Human Rights Policy, would I

want it to apply to all types of creeds?  I believe that the

Human Rights Policy should be applied consistently from group

to group.

Okay.  So is it your position that it violates the

Human Rights Policy for an environmental group that holds a

creed that the environment is in danger because of global

warming -- do you think it would violate the Human Rights

Policy to exclude members who reject that belief?

Who currently reject that belief, I would -- again,

I'm not an enforcer of the Human Rights Policy, but it --

yeah, I -- the question for me is is somebody being labeled

correctly as a denier; do they currently -- what is their

current view, that's the question.

If that student refused to sign a statement that the

environment was in danger by global warming, would it violate

the Human Rights Policy for that student organization to

exclude a student?

I can't give you an answer to that because it's

never come up before, and the Statement of Faith applies --

that's always applied to religious groups.  I don't ever

recall a nonreligious group having a statement of principles.

But if it did, could it have one without violating

the Human Rights Policy?

Depending upon how it was worded, I suppose.  Again,

I'm not the interpreter and enforcer of the Human Rights

Policy.

Okay.  You're the person who's been designated to

testify in response to topic number 5 in the Notice of

30(b)(6) Deposition that's Exhibit 2, correct?

(No response.)

Why don't you turn to Exhibit 2, and do you see

there in front of you number 5?

Yes.

Has anybody told you that you are the person who's

been designated to speak for the University on this topic?

Mr. Carroll told me that I've been designated to

speak about the Christian Legal Society, and he may have told

me I was designated to speak about the Human Rights Policy; I

don't recall that he did, but that could be.

Okay.  Let's assume for now that he did, and I guess

I'll reserve the right to ask for another witness if that is

not -- if you're not the individual who's been asked --

MR. CARROLL:  It's actually the next witness today,

and I designated that because in part he can address some of

these things because it talks about student organizations

because he is involved in student organizations, so we don't

have to have one witness for every topic.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  Well, the only one who is

designated in the email you sent me for this topic is

Mr. Baker, so I'll ask him some questions, and we'll also be

prepared to ask Ms. Cervantes some questions about it.

Are you aware of any student organizations at the

University that employ criteria for the selection of their

leaders based on any of the categories that are in the

Human Rights Policy?

Not sure that I understand your question, but my

understanding is that the CLS is currently a student

organization, and I assume that CLS uses a Statement of Faith;

I'm not -- I have no idea if that's true.

Are you aware of any other organizations that employ

leadership selection criteria based on any category in the

Human Rights Policy?

Nothing that I'm aware of.

Okay.  Are you aware of any women-only groups like

Women in Engineering or groups that restrict membership to,

for example, transgender status?

No, I'm not.

Okay.  Are you familiar with the group House of

Lord?

No.

Are you familiar with the group -- are you familiar

with Muslim Students' Association?

The name sounds familiar.  If it's the group I'm

thinking of, they've been an organization here for a number of

years.

Are you aware if they have any selection criteria

for leaders or members?

I have not looked at any group constitutions for a

long time.

Okay.  Are you familiar with their -- any of their

leadership or membership restrictions?

The Muslim Students' Association?

Yes.

No.

Are you familiar with the group Imam Mahdi?

No.

Are you familiar with the group Feminist Majority?

No.

Are you familiar with the group Feminist Union?

No.

Are you familiar with the group Women in Science and

Engineering?

No.

How about the Iowa National Lawyers Guild?

No.

UDems?
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No.

Federalist Society?

No; I know that they're a group, but I'm not

familiar with their constitution or their practices.

Are there any student groups on campus that you're

familiar with?

"Familiar" meaning that I know individuals involved

in the student organization, I think the answer is no.

Okay.  Are you familiar with any student groups and

their leadership or membership selection criteria?

I'm sorry, could you repeat that.

Are you familiar with the selection criteria of any

registered student groups on campus?

No.  That sounds to me like the same question you

asked a few minutes ago, so if there's a nuance in your

question and I missed it, I apologize.

Okay.  I'm just making sure we've covered the

ground.

So you're not familiar with any registered student

groups on campus that have selection criteria for members or

leaders other than perhaps CLS?

Correct.

Do you know what the word "invidious" means?

In caselaw it's used as an adjective for defining a

subcategory of illegal discrimination.  So people talk about

invidious discrimination; I don't know what that term means in

caselaw, but it's a term that I remember from law school.

Okay.  And just based on your general understanding

of the world and the English language, how would you describe

the difference between invidious discrimination and

noninvidious discrimination?

I couldn't answer that.

Are there some forms of discrimination that you

think are acceptable in society?

Well, sure, and if you define "discrimination" in a

broad sense, every individual discriminates in some way every

day.  I set my alarm last night to go off at a certain time;

that was a discriminatory act.  I chose to eat a certain type

of breakfast this morning; that was a discriminatory act.  If

I'm grading a student's paper, that's a discriminatory act, so

discriminatory acts occur all the time.  The question is is it

the type of discrimination that's prohibited by law.

So do you agree that there are some types of

discrimination that are not prohibited by law?

As I would define the word "discrimination."  There

are some people who define the word "discrimination" to mean

illegal per say.  I define the word -- in common parlance, I

define the word "discrimination" to mean in a broad way like I

mentioned about assigning a grade or deciding what to have for

breakfast.

Are there any forms of discrimination on the basis

of sex that you would find acceptable from a moral

perspective?

Acceptable from a moral perspective?  I would say

that student organizations that have residential housing, that

that's acceptable, differential treatment.

And what about sports teams on campus; do you think

that's acceptable sex discrimination when sports are

sex-segregated?

Again, using the general term for "discrimination,"

I would say that having men's sports teams and women's sports

teams is acceptable.

What about allowing student groups to form around

common interests; do you think that's an acceptable form of

discrimination?

Well, forming a group around the particular

principle is not inherently discriminatory in my opinion.

Okay.  Do you think that -- what's the purpose of

student groups on campus, why are they there; do you know?

Well, as far as I know, there's no written

definition of a purpose, but as a former student leader and as

a long-time University official in student affairs, there's a

number of benefits that participation in student groups

provides, and so I see student organizations as being an

important part of the University because they contribute to

the extracurricular development of students.

In what ways do they contribute to the

extracurricular development of students?

I can't give you a complete list, but I would say

communication, conducting a meeting.  Skill sets that are used

in student organization practice transfer easily into the

postgraduate realm and, you know, learning in Robert's Rules

of Order, things like that.

Are there any academic benefits to having student

groups on campus?

I've always presumed there were.  I've never seen

any research to study how it impacts, but I'd be very

interested to see that kind of research.

And what would you anticipate -- or do you have a

personal view about whether it's beneficial academically to

have student groups on campus?

Academically beneficial?  Well, I would say yes with

regard to student groups that are associated around a

particular major.  I was a history major.  Having a group of

history majors I believe is likely to promote the work that

those history majors do in the classroom.

And do student groups contribute to the diversity of

campus?

Depending upon how you define the term "diversity."

I think that -- my assumption is that because student
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organization participation promotes retention, that student

organizations do contribute to diversity on campus.

What about diversity on thinking; do you think that

student groups contribute to the diversity of thinking that

happens at university campuses?

I think it depends on to what extent there is a

dialogue, a public dialogue.  So in my experience here at this

university, there's been public dialogue involving certain

student organizations that have whole public events, invite

speakers, things like that.

Do you think it's important for student groups to be

able to espouse a particular ideology or belief or a mission?

Espouse?  Yes, I would agree that it's important

that groups if they have an opinion about a particular

political topic, other topics that they -- it's important that

they be encouraged to espouse their views.

Okay.  And do you think that it's beneficial, for

example, for student groups -- for students to be free to form

groups around identity issues such as support groups for

transgender students or support groups for women or something

like that?

Yes, definitely.

And why?

Why is it important?  Because it -- among other

things, it promotes persistence.

And you would agree, then, I assume that it's also

important for religious students to be able to form groups

around their beliefs, correct?

I believe that religious activity -- spiritual

activity on campus is important for many of the same reasons;

it promotes progress toward graduation, it gives students a

sense of camaraderie by meeting other students from their

faith, working with other students from their faith, yes.

And that brings positive benefits to both the

students and the University; would you agree with that?

Well, the University's interest is in persistence in

that regard, not promoting any particular brand of religion.

What do you mean by "persistence"?

Persistence in enrollment.

What is persistence in the enrollment; the number of

students who enroll or the consistency of enrollment?  What do

you --

Correct.  Correct.  Persistence, it's something that

the University looks at very closely to see what percentage of

our students graduate, to see what percentage of our

first-year students persist to the second year, things like

that.

So the student groups are important to help students

finish their education.

Right; or at least stay so that if they do transfer,

they'll be able to graduate at another institution.

Okay.  Do you think -- if a student group is formed

to support transgender students, do you think if it requires

its members to sign a statement affirming -- agreeing to

support transgender students, that that's permissible and a

positive thing?

You're asking about the utility?

I'm asking you if you think it's a positive thing

for student groups to be able to exclude membership to

individuals who share their beliefs and mission.

Hmm.  Well, it seems to me that's an empirical

question -- or a question that calls for empirical research,

and I don't know how exclusion impacts persistence.

And what about leadership; do you think it's

important for groups to be able to limit their leadership to

people who share their mission?

That's a tough one because I -- again, I haven't

seen any research to indicate if that -- what the impact of

that is.

Do you have any commonsense view of whether groups

should be able to exclude potential leaders based on whether

they share the group's mission or not?

Say that again.

Well, you said you didn't have any research on this

issue.  I'm asking if you have any commonsense perspective on

whether mission-oriented groups should be able to exclude from

leadership individuals who don't share their mission.

Well, I would like to think that the leaders of any

group can get along and any -- I mean even within the CLS

there's differences of opinions, and that doesn't mean the CLS

group is flawed or anything.  I would like to think that CLS

can perpetuate without having to exclude people based on -- I

would like to hope that they could.  If I was to go back and

be a student and if I was to found a student group around a

particular ideology that I had, I would like to think that our

group could perpetuate without having to formally have a set

of criteria that -- leadership or membership criteria.

Whether it was formal or not, if you started a

group, for example, on campus to support Bernie Sanders, would

you want to be able to exclude pro-Trump students from the

leadership?

Well, I would -- to my way of thinking, you exclude

pro-Trump people by not selecting them as leaders.  You don't

categorically say "Trump supporters aren't qualified to be

leaders."  You have a competitive election, and, you know,

that's the way to keep Trump supporters from being in charge

of the Bernie Sanders group.

Well, do you think it's important to stop them from

being leaders of the Bernie Sanders group?

Important to stop them?  You mean should the leaders
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of the Bernie Sanders group vote against a pro-Trump?

I'm saying if you started a Bernie Sanders group,

would you want to exclude as leaders people who are pro-Trump?

I wouldn't categorically exclude them as leaders.  I

would say, "I'm not voting for you as a leader because you

support Trump."

So in voting would you want to know what their

beliefs are?

Absolutely.

And how would you know what their beliefs are?

The same way that democracy works is that you --

every year we have Student Government elections, and every

year there is a debate, there is a list of resolutions, a list

of principles that they stand for.

And these candidates publish which ones they stand

for and which ones they don't, correct?

Publish meaning like in the newspaper?

Correct.

The Daily Iowan traditionally has -- you're smiling.

I'm not sure why you're smiling.  The Daily Iowan

traditionally has published them.  I don't think they've ever

rejected, but because it's a newspaper, they're not required

to publish it under the First Amendment.

Sure.  But however it's made known, you would want

those students who are running for leadership positions to

make their positions known, correct?

Yeah, if I was a member of the Bernie Sanders group,

I would want the candidates for leadership in the group to

make their positions known.

Okay.  And it wouldn't matter whether they make them

known through stump speeches or through signing a statement of

what they believe or any other way, correct?  You would just

want to know what their beliefs actually are.

Yes.

And you see that as a form of beneficial

discrimination, correct?

Well, would -- meaning that when people select their

leaders by vote --

Correct.

-- that it's beneficial?  Yeah, I mean, again, if

we're using the term "discriminatory" in a general sense,

yeah, every time I vote, I'm discriminating and --

And you're usually discriminating based on people's

beliefs, correct?

You mean when I go and vote in an election?

Right.  One of the things you discriminate on is

based -- is their beliefs, correct?

Correct.

And that's a positive bid for society, correct?

Yes, I think it's a -- just an aspect of democracy.

And that would also be a positive good, then, for

student groups on campus to be able to select leaders based on

shared beliefs, correct?

Yes.

And even if the Human Rights Policy prohibits that

on its face, you wouldn't expect the University to apply it in

a way to prohibit that, right?

Again, seems like we're getting into the point of a

Statement of Beliefs, and that's different than what we just

talked about.  What we talked about was choosing leadership

members by a vote.

So is it your view that screening for leaders based

on belief is only appropriate if it's done by popular vote and

not by some other mechanism?

That's just my personal preference.  If I was

involved in a student organization, I would prefer that we not

define -- I mean other than things like you have to be a

student or things like that, but I would probably oppose if

there was an effort in the Bernie Sanders group to define

leadership characteristics; I would probably be opposed to

that.

And would you be opposed to asking members to

register as members of whatever party Bernie Sanders is a

member of?

Do you mean requiring that that be a precondition of

leadership?

Right; actually signing up for membership in the

party.

I don't know.  I'm not sure what to think about

that.

Is that any different than asking someone to sign a

Statement of Faith?

Statement of Faith for religious group?

Religious group.

Having a hard time comparing religious groups and

political groups, so I don't --

And why is that?

I mean religious groups have a spiritual ideology.

There's nothing spiritual, in my opinion, about political

groups.

So what does that have to do with why you would --

whether you'd think it's okay for leaders to sign a Statement

of Faith versus to sign as a member of a party?

I'm sorry.  Maybe we've been doing this for too

long.  Could you repeat your question.

Yeah.  Why would you distinguish between -- you said

that you wouldn't want to have a -- why would you distinguish

between what religious groups and political groups can do in

screening its leaders based on the existence of a spiritual

acknowledgement?
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Well, if -- let me say first that if I was to become

a student and to start a student organization that was

religious, my personal approach would be to choose leaders

without having a set of criteria.

And you think it would be okay for the University to

require that of student groups?

Would it be okay for the University --

Could the University force student religious groups

to select leaders without any ideological test?

You're talking -- I'm sorry, I'm a little bit

confused because to me a test is part of the selection

process.  If you're talking about a criteria for qualification

to be considered as a candidate for the office, that's

different than what your question is about a test.  So, in

other words, if I'm -- if I decide that I'm a Swedenborgian

and I'm going to found a Swedenborgian society, my preference

would be to select leaders of the Swedenborgian society based

on what they say when they're -- as to why they want to be a

leader in the group, and I would expect there would be a

vetting session.  Are you a true Swedenborgian, do you

subscribe to Swedenborgian set of principles; that would be

part of the vetting process, and it doesn't necessarily need

to be put down as a statement of criteria that you'd have to

meet "yes" or "no."

What difference does that make to you?  Why is it

important whether you do that verbally or in writing?

Me personally, I think it -- in terms of utility, I

think the group is likely to perpetuate longer if I'm -- if a

group appears to be exclusive -- you know, any group that

appears to be exclusive and unwelcoming of new members, that

group is not going to survive very long, so I think that --

again, this is my own personal philosophy that the way that

you perpetuate your group is to welcome new people and that if

you welcome them by telling them that you have to meet these

criteria or you're not a member, to me that sends the wrong

message.

Okay.  But could the University distinguish the way

it treats student groups based on whether they follow your

preferred method or whether they use a written statement to

find out the information they want?

Just to make sure I understand this right, could you

repeat your --

Sure.  Could the University constitutionally

distinguish the way it treats student groups that screen its

leaders the way you prefer versus student groups that use a

Statement of Faith to screen members?

Well, in terms of the Constitution,

U.S. Constitution we're talking about, that would depend on

caselaw, so in my opinion we should do whatever is required by

the caselaw.

Is it your understanding that -- what's your -- is

it your understanding that the University can constitutionally

treat student groups that select leaders the way you suggested

differently than student groups who use a Statement of Faith

to select leaders?

MR. CARROLL:  And I'm going to object to that

question because witnesses are not required to answer legal

questions.

MR. BAXTER:  I'm just ask his understanding.

MR. CARROLL:  No.  Witnesses do not testify to what

the law is.  The judge decides what the law is.

THE WITNESS:  Well, and I prefer not to speculate

about the law.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  Do you -- we'll go to lunch, and

we'll pick this up afterwards.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.

          (A recess was taken.)

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  We'll go back on the record.

Mr. Baker, we were just on lunch break, correct?

Correct.

And did you speak to anyone about this litigation

and the deposition during your lunch?

I asked if I needed a drive to lunch, and George

said yes.

Did you ask him about this deposition or the

litigation?

No.

Okay.  Did you speak to anyone about that?

No.

Did you look at any documents?

No.

You know you're still under oath, correct?

Correct.

Okay.  I want to ask you about the BLinC

investigation.  When did you first become aware of the

complaint that was filed against BLinC?

I believe it was February 2018.

And do you remember how you were notified?

I don't.  I have a memory of Dr. Redington, my

supervisor, calling me into her office and saying that there

had been a Human Rights Policy complaint and that EOD would be

doing the investigation, and she said that she wanted me to

sit in on the investigation.

Did she tell you why she wanted you to sit in on the

investigation?

She said that the EOD report would be shared with

the CSIL office, and she wanted me to be the person who was

sort of a messenger or person who would take the EOD report

and make sure it got on to the student organization procedure.

And was there anything else that you discussed with
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her during that meeting?

I don't know.

Do you recall if there was anything else that you

said to her in that meeting?

No.

And what -- did she give you any documents at that

time pertaining to the investigation?

I don't recall.

Okay.  And what steps did you take next?

I don't recall doing anything.  I recall getting

some emails from Connie Cervantes about her interviews; she

wanted to schedule her interviews at a time that fit my

schedule.

Okay.  And did you produce those emails when you

were asked to produce documents in this litigation?

I don't -- I don't believe so.

Is there any reason why you didn't search for those

emails from Connie?

No.

Will you produce those to your lawyers so they can

turn them over to us.

Okay.

Are there any other emails from Connie Cervantes

that have not been produced?

As far as I know, the emails that I still had in my

system were included in the --

Did you specifically search for emails with Connie?

I believe I did.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to -- well, did -- so

those scheduling emails, did you -- after those scheduling

emails, did you attend the interviews of the witnesses?

I recall missing one of the interviews, and I don't

remember which one it was.  I did attend the interview with

was it Hannah Thompson; is that her name?  So I participated

in an interview Connie had with Marcus Miller, and I attended

the interview with Hannah Thompson.

Okay.  And prior to attending interviews, were you

given any documents relative to the investigation?

I don't remember.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to turn to what's

previously been marked as Exhibit 91, probably in the second

binder.

MR. CARROLL:  Before I forget, your binder is much

thicker than mine.

MR. BAXTER:  That's because I didn't introduce all

the documents for which I have tabs.

MR. CARROLL:  Okay.  So -- but I don't have all your

documents, so it just depends if you're going to introduce

them?

MR. BAXTER:  Right.

MR. CARROLL:  Okay.  Because I just noticed that

yours is thicker.

MR. BAXTER:  Yep, that's why.  You'll have

everything that gets introduced in the depositions.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Are you familiar with this document?

I saw it at some point in time.  I don't recall when

I saw it.

And I'm going to ask you to look at -- well, do you

remember if you saw -- referring to Exhibit 91, do you recall

if you saw it before or after the interviews?

I don't.

Okay.  Do you remember what your reaction was upon

seeing it?

No.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look at Document

Number 92; are you familiar with this document?

I don't -- I don't know that I've seen this.

Okay.

It doesn't look familiar.

Did Ms. Cervantes ever give you notes from her

interviews?

No.

Okay.  Do you recall -- whose interview was

scheduled first, Mr. Miller's, or Ms. Thompson's; do you

remember?

I don't.

Were you present for both?

Yes.

And do you remember Mr. Miller saying that he was

not allowed to be a leader of BLinC because he did not

subscribe to what the Bible said about homosexuality?

I don't recall exactly how he worded it.  As you

know, on his form he said that he was denied because he was

openly gay.

And what did you learn during the interview with

Marcus Miller?

The interview spoke -- mainly involved his

experience with 24:7.  I don't remember much about what he

said about BLinC, and so my -- I know he talked about his

interview with BLinC.  I know he talked about his interview

with 24:7.  I don't remember exactly what -- the words that he

used.

Do you remember learning during an interview with

Marcus Miller that BLinC believed that they had rejected him

as a leader because of his religious beliefs?

Ask that question again.

Sure.  Do you remember learning during the interview

that BLinC took the position that it rejected Marcus Miller

because he rejected their religious beliefs?
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I don't remember.

So what did you -- when you left the deposition --

or the interview with Mr. Miller, what did you leave thinking

was the factual circumstances?

I don't recall what was on my mind.

Did you get an impression at any time what the

factual circumstances of the investigation were?

I'm sorry, the factual circumstances of the

investigation?

The factual circumstances that were revealed during

the investigation or during the interview with Marcus Miller.

Okay.  Could you ask that --

Certainly.  Did you at any time gain an

understanding -- let me restate that.

After the Marcus Miller interview, did you have an

understanding of what the allegations were against BLinC and

what BLinC's responses to those allegations was?

Well, I had an understanding of what Marcus was

saying.  I did not have an understanding based on what Marcus

told me of what BLinC's position was.

And what was your understanding of what Marcus

Miller was saying?

From what I remember about the interview with Marcus

was that Marcus said there was no discussion about his sexual

practices; he said that he informed them that he was -- he

considered himself a homosexual -- those are my words, not his

words -- but according to the information Mr. Miller told us,

there were no follow-up questions about do you have a partner,

are you -- do you -- are you engaged in sexual activity,

things like that.

Okay.  And why would that have mattered to you to

have that information?

That came to mind because of involvement with the

CLS in 2004.

And what was the connection you were making there?

The connection I was making was was the decision

made based solely on his identity, his status, in other words,

or was it based on his conduct.

Okay.  So is it your position that if -- that it

would have been -- that Hannah Thompson should have asked him

questions about his conduct?

Well, I don't -- that's what I was looking for.  I'm

not making a judgment about what she should have done and

should have not done, but that's what I was interested in --

it's one of the things I was interested in as an investigator

was to know what they talked about.

And why did that interest you whether she had asked

him about his conduct?

Because of my involvement in the CLS discussion in

2004, that seemed like it could be relevant.

In what way would that have been relevant?

Well, if BLinC had had a policy similar to the CLS

statement about sexual activity outside of marriage, then

that's one of the things I would have expected them to follow

up on was -- because that could have been an issue in applying

the Human Rights Policy.

And why would that have been an issue?

For the same reason that it was an issue in 2004.  I

didn't know at the time if BLinC was similarly situated as CLS

was, but if this had been a complaint against CLS, I would

have asked my same question in my mind about, well, what does

that interview look like that CLS is doing.  In this case it

wasn't CLS, it was BLinC.

So if they had -- if BLinC had asked Marcus Miller

if he were engaged in sexual conduct outside of marriage and

he said yes, then that would have been a reason to treat them

the same as CLS?

It's hard to say.  I mean, again, it depends on what

BLinC's documents look like.

Okay.  Well, tell me why that matters what BLinC 's

documents look like.

Because if their documents say that they're going to

treat people the same without regard to their sexual

orientation status, then they would -- in the same way that

CLS did, it could be then that they're violating their own

rules.

So did -- was -- did CLS have a statement on how

they treat people based on their sexual orientation status?

Well, that's what they told us during the interview

in 2004; that's what -- that's what was the basis of our

resolving that matter in 2004.

Well, you initially said you were asking -- you were

interested that BLinC hadn't followed up with questions about

Marcus Miller's sexual conduct, and now you're saying that CLS

had -- and BLinC should have been asking questions about

sexual orientation status; is that what you're trying to say?

No, I think they did ask -- or they -- whether

Marcus told them unilaterally or whether they asked Marcus, I

don't know, but I was looking to see if the questions went

beyond simply about his orientation to his conduct.

And your recollection is that there were no

questions about conduct.

That's what Mr. Miller told us.

And Mr. Miller also told you there were questions

about his beliefs, correct?

Beliefs in terms of whether homosexuality was a

sin --

Sure.

-- is that what you're asking?  When he

self-identified to BLinC that he was openly gay, my
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understanding is that that was an acknowledgment by Marcus

that his status was open to question in terms of the --

BLinC's religious beliefs.

So how do you distinction -- do you have any

distinction between discrimination based on status and

discrimination based on belief?

I'm sorry, please repeat the question.

Do you distinguish having -- can you distinguish

between discrimination based on status and discrimination

based on belief?

Can I --

Yes.

-- distinguish, meaning do I know the difference

between the two?

Correct.

Yes.

Can you describe for me in your own words how you

would distinguish those two concepts.

Status is what -- again, immutable characteristics,

which I consider sexual orientation to be an immutable

characteristic just like race or gender, so the question about

belief is a matter that's not immutable.

Are you saying that belief is not an immutable

characteristic, or is --

Correct; it is not.

Okay.  And would you have -- do you think that the

investigator should have responded differently based on

whether BLinC discriminated against Marcus Miller based on his

beliefs or based on his sexual orientation?

I'm sorry, say that -- ask that question again.

Okay.  Let me describe the situation.

Okay.

Let's say that Marcus Miller went to BLinC and said,

"I don't accept your beliefs on sexual orientation," and he

didn't disclose his own sexual orientation, and BLinC said to

him, "Well, you can't be a leader because you don't share our

beliefs"; one could describe that as discrimination based on

belief, correct?

Yes; again, using a general definition.

Which you know how to use, right?  You're a

Title IX officer, correct?

(No response.)

Or you're a Title IX investigator?

Yes.

And do you ever talk about discrimination in the

context of Title IX?

Basis for the statute, but in the day-to-day

activity, it's not part of our parlance.

Well, how do you describe what normally people would

call discrimination based on sex?

In the context of Title IX?

Sure.

I should explain that I'll -- I don't deal with

athletics or other issues about admission to programs.  The

Title IX cases I investigate are sexual misconduct, stalking,

and domestic abuse dating violence, so in investigating those

cases, Notice of Complaint letters go out that reference a

conduct code, but they don't reference Title IX as a

statute -- or they don't use the word "discrimination."  They

simply say, "If these allegations are true, you may have

violated the conduct rules."

So in the general understanding of the term

"discrimination," you can agree that if BLinC had excluded

Marcus because he didn't accept their beliefs on religion,

that could constitute discrimination on the basis of belief,

correct?

Yes.

And if he had just come and said "I'm gay" and they

said "you can't be a leader for that reason," that would be

discrimination on the basis of status, correct?

Correct.

And if he had come and said "I don't accept your

beliefs" -- or "I have sexual activity outside of marriage"

and they excluded him on that basis, that could be

characterized as discrimination on the basis of conduct,

correct?

Correct.

So you understand those three distinctions,

discrimination on belief versus status versus conduct,

correct?

Correct.

Would it have made a difference to you in the

investigation which one of those forms of discrimination BLinC

engaged in?

Well, I think it would have made -- it would have

been important for me to convey that to Dr. Nelson.  I was not

involved in making a decision about the investigation; that

was Connie's work.  I don't -- I can't speak for her because I

don't know how she -- if she considered those three

distinctions, but as the person who's sharing her decision

with Dr. Nelson, I would think that it was -- it was on my

mind was to see what the BLinC rules did or did not say about

conduct and if they asked him about his conduct.

Okay.  And when Dr. Redington asked you to

participate in the investigation, did you understand that you

had an obligation to make sure it was run correctly?

That the investigation was run correctly?  My

responsibility was to make sure that the post-investigation

process -- that it followed from the EOD investigation.  My

responsibility was not to tell EOD how to do their
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investigation.

So you were just there to listen and observe; is

that correct?

That's right.

And if Connie was making a significant mistake, you

wouldn't have felt it was your obligation to correct her.

No, I -- I mean -- making a mistake?  I mean if

she'd have done something that would have violated

Fourteenth Amendment, due process, then I might have expressed

some concerns.

And that's because you are employed by a state

university, correct?

Right.

And you have an obligation as an employee of the

University to observe the Constitution, correct?

Correct.

And so you would want to make extra effort to make

sure the Fourteenth Amendment was complied with, correct?

Yes.

And that's true of the First Amendment too, correct?

Well, it's correct in the sense that we're obligated

to -- as a public institution to conform to the

First Amendment.  Questions about free speech rights are

something that I assume Connie is aware of, and so I can't

imagine that I would have corrected her on something.

So if you had concerns that Connie was violating the

free speech right, you wouldn't have done anything about it.

I -- and, again, talking hypotheticals, I don't --

it never crossed my mind that I would have a reason to believe

that there was a First Amendment violation in what she was

doing with her investigation.

Okay.  Well, when you were involved in the CLS

investigation, you knew that that implicated free exercise

rights under the First Amendment, correct?

Free exercise rights?  I -- I'm not an expert on the

First Amendment, but to me free exercise is an issue that

implicates private religious groups, not student associations.

My understanding is student associations are under the

First Amendment that has to do with association; that's the

free speech right there.  Free Exercise Clause has to do with

whether or not -- again, this is just my crude understanding

is that has to do with whether or not a group can hold

religious service on -- in University buildings.

Okay.  So it never occurred to you that telling a

religious student group who to select as its leaders wouldn't

implicate the First Amendment?

No, that's not what I said.

Well, did it occur to you that telling religious

students who to pick as their leaders would implicate the

First Amendment?

With regard to association.  You said "free

exercise."

Okay.  So it never occurred to you that telling

religious student groups who they could pick as their leaders

would implicate the Free Exercise Clause?

I don't believe it did.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look back at

Exhibit Number 46.

(The witness complied.)

Okay.  We'll come back to that in a minute.  Ask you

to look at Exhibit Number 94.

(The witness complied.)  Are we missing one?

Oh, if you don't have it, I'll pull it up for you.

Are you aware that religious students have the right to

express their religious views on campus?

Anyone, whether they're religious students or not,

have a right to express their views on campus consistent with

reasonable time, place, and manner.

If a student wants to express religious views, would

you agree that's protected by the Free Speech Clause?

Yes; consistent with the time, place, and manner

caselaw.

And would you agree it's protected by the

Free Exercise Clause?

I don't know enough about Free Exercise Clause to

know if religious rights are considered to be speech.

But you know enough to know that that would raise

significant questions you'd want to know the answer to,

correct?

I'm not -- I don't understand where -- I mean you're

asking me as a person what my -- as a citizen?

If the University asked you to tell a religious

student group that they couldn't meet on campus, would that

raise red flags and remind you of the Free Exercise Clause?

Well, I would certainly ask questions about why they

had been restricted.  I would want to know from the General

Counsel's office that I would be executing an act that has the

-- falls within the color of the law.

And would you have the same reaction if the

University asked you to restrict who a religious student group

could pick as its leaders?

It -- say your question again.

If the University asked you to limit who a religious

student group could select as its leaders, would that raise

red flags in your mind under the Free Exercise Clause?

The Free Exercise Clause?  No.  It might raise

questions in my mind about the First Amendment in general

about association, but I don't think it would -- free exercise

-- again, I have kind of a narrow view of what free exercise

entails.
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And what is your view of what free exercise entails?

It involves religious activities, services, rights,

worship services, things like that.

Okay.  And as far as you know, would it extend to a

religious organization selection of its leaders?

I'm not a constitutional expert.  I -- if it does,

I'm not aware of it.

And if you indicated that you sat in -- when you sat

in the interview with Marcus Miller that if Ms. Cervantes had

done anything to violate the Fourteenth Amendment, you would

have raised concerns about that, correct?

Yes.

And if it raised concerns under the Free Speech

Clause, you would have done something about that, correct?

No; I qualified earlier what I said between due

process and free speech.  I might have asked Connie a question

if I did believe that there was a free speech issue at stake.

Which you agree there would be if the University

were asking a student group to limit who they select as its

leaders, correct?

You're going to have to repeat that again.

Well, you admitted previously that the University

telling a religious group who they selected as its leaders

would raise questions under the Free Speech Clause.

Yeah.

And you knew during the Marcus Miller interview that

one of the questions was who BLinC can select as its leaders,

correct?

That's what Mr. Miller's complaint involved was that

he had been turned down because of his status, yes.

So according to what you said previously, that

should have raised First Amendment concerns in your mind,

correct?

Well, raise First Amendment concerns in my mind, but

because Connie is responsible for the investigation, because

of my experience with her, there was no need for me to be

concerned.  I didn't feel concerned at that time that my own

involvement in the case was precarious.

What do you mean by "precarious"?

Well, it would invite allegations that I violated

someone's free speech rights.

And so in that circumstance you just chose to defer

to Connie's views and not do anything on your own?

Well, I either deferred to her views -- I may have

asked a few questions along the way.  I don't recall what our

dialogue was about the First Amendment.

Did you make any effort to review the underlying

documents that Connie was considering in her investigation?

If I remember what the underlying documents were,

there was a -- I assume that the BLinC constitution came up,

and I assume that the 24:7 constitution was a document that

she reviewed; presumably I looked at those documents.  I don't

recall the details of that.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  I'm going to ask -- well, let's

look to Exhibit Number 94.  I'm going to ask the reporter to

mark this (indicating) document as Exhibit 94.

(Deposition Exhibit Number 94 was marked for

identification.)

BY MR. BAXTER:

Are you familiar with that document?

Yes, I am familiar with it.  Just need a minute to

review it.

Yes.  I'm trying to remember what the attachment

was.

I'm going to invite you to look at the document

that's been labeled 220.

Oh, okay.

This one's represented by counsel as the document

attached to that memo; do you have any reason to disagree with

that?

No, this is correct.  This (indicating) is the

document attached to that memo.

Okay.  And why did you request the memo?

Why did I request --

I'm sorry, why did you go -- it says that you went

and checked your files --

Checked my files.  Either --

MR. CARROLL:  Don't talk over each other.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Okay.  Why did you check your files for this memo?

I believe it was because Kristi or Connie had asked

me for some sort of a statement about previous cases or

something like that.  There's a reference -- as you know,

there's a reference in here to a Supreme Court case, so I

don't know if the question came up about the Supreme Court

decision or what it was.

Okay.  And then when you look at the document that's

Number 220, you see in the middle of the second paragraph

where it says:  "The University is obliged to protect the

First Amendment right of CLS members to espouse the group's

basic tenets"?

Uh-huh.

So you knew that the investigation of BLinC

implicated First Amendment rights, correct?

Correct.

And you refer to in your email a Supreme Court case;

do you remember what case that is?

Well, it says the Hastings law case.

And are you familiar with that case?

Somewhat.  I -- when the Hastings case came up, I
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was working in the Dean of Students -- or, pardon me, Student

Conduct Office.  It was after the separation of the Dean of

Students and the vice president, so I was working in the --

with the Dean of Students and Student Conduct at the time that

-- and this is just from memory, at the time the Hastings case

was issued in 2010, so I don't -- if I read the Hastings case,

I don't remember reading it.

You referred here to an "All Comers" policy; what

were you referring to there?

The -- from what I recall, the Hastings law college

had a policy that they described as an "All Comers" Policy.

And what did you understand an "All Comers" Policy

to be?

Was that there could be -- everyone -- every student

had the opportunity to be a member of a group, to be a leader

of a group without regard to Statements of Faith and things

like that.

And as far as you knew at that time when you read

this email, the University of Iowa did not have an

"All Comers" Policy, correct?

Correct.

And how would you describe the policy that

University of Iowa had?

That -- I don't have a particular label for our

policy.  When we talked about our -- we just talked about the

Human Rights Policy; that was just the term we used.

And as far as if you are aware, is there any

research that would show that an "All Comers" Policy has more

or less value to a university than a policy like the

Iowa Human -- University of Iowa's Human Rights Policy?

Never seen any research.

As far as you know, did the University ever discuss

the differences between those two types of policies?

I know that there was a meeting after the

Supreme Court issued its decision in 2010, and I was present

at the meeting, so the issue of "All Comers" Policy did come

up, and as I recall, the decision was that we would not make

any changes in the Human Rights Policy.

Okay.  Who else was in that meeting?

Several attorneys from the General Counsel's office.

I don't recall who was there from Student Services; Dr. Nelson

may have been.  I'm not sure.

And was there any -- do you know why they decided

not to adopt an "All Comers" Policy?

MR. CARROLL:  I'm going object as attorney-client

privilege from that meeting.  If somehow it can be without

attorney's involvement, then that's a fair question.  He's

giving you the foundation that he met with lawyers, the

subject matter which you have the right to ask, but --

BY MR. BAXTER:

Outside of what you learned directly from attorneys,

did you have any knowledge of why the University decided not

to enact an "All Comers" Policy?

No; the word that I heard was from the attorneys.

MR. CARROLL:  Well, you're not talking about the

attorney.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Was -- okay.  And since that time are you aware of

any effort by the University to adopt an "All Comers" Policy?

No, I'm not aware.

Were you present for the Hannah Thompson interviews

that Ms. Cervantes carried out?

I believe so.  What I remember was that there was a

female student there, and there was a female staff or faculty

member who was there too, so I -- I could be wrong, but my

memory is that the student was Hannah Thompson.  I don't

remember the name of -- I think it was the group's advisor who

was there to support Hannah.

Okay.  And what do you recall Hannah saying during

that interview?

What I recall Hannah saying off the top of my head

was that Marcus Miller without being prompted told her that he

was openly gay and that because he said he was openly gay,

that he was -- according to Hannah, that they decided he was

not eligible to be a leader.

Do you recall her saying that she told him he could

not be a leader because his lifestyle was inconsistent with

the Bible?

She may have said that; I don't recall how she

worded it.

Do you recall her saying that she would encourage

anyone who was gay to come and they would be welcomed as

members?

Yes, I think she did say that.

Do you remember her talking about that the only

restriction was for the leadership team; it would be expected

to turn away from sin?

I don't recall that.  She may have said that; I

don't recall it.

Okay.  And did you make any effort to determine

whether BLinC believed -- whether BLinC rejected Mr. Miller

because of his beliefs as opposed to his status?

I wasn't in charge of the investigation.  I didn't

-- my impression based on the interview with Hannah was that

they had made the decision based on the status.

And what in the interview led you to that

conclusion?

Because there was no follow-up about his conduct.

Okay.  And you didn't pay attention to whether there

was any follow-up about his beliefs or --
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I don't recall that coming up.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  I'd like you to look at Document

Number 97; I don't think you have it.

Ms. Reporter, can you mark that (indicating) as

Exhibit Number 97.

(Deposition Exhibit Number 97 was marked for

identification.)

BY MR. BAXTER:

Do you recognize this document?

I don't.

Okay.  And do you recognize that handwriting?

It sort of resembles Connie's handwriting.

Do you recall if you were interviewing with Connie

on March 27, 2017?

I may have been.  I don't recall.

Do you remember having a discussion with her

sometime after the Marcus Miller and Hannah Thompson

investigation -- or interviews?

I remember one meeting we had to talk about the

history of the Human Rights Policy going back to the 1950s and

1960s.  I know I had at least one phone call with her; I don't

have the date of that.

Okay.  And do you recall any phone call or in-person

meeting talking about the distinction between beliefs and

actions?

I don't.

Okay.  Do you recall telling her that she was --

something about setting up for a PR nightmare?

I don't.

Do you know who Justin is?

I don't.  I mean I'm not sure if that was somebody

with the 24:7 case or if that was somebody with the BLinC

case.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look at a document

that the reporter will mark as Exhibit Number 98.

Actually I do think I have a 98 here.

Okay.  That's been previously marked.  Are you

familiar with this document?

I believe I did see this.  It's been a while since I

read it.

Would you have read it when you received it?

Presumably.

Okay.  And do you think that you -- or do you recall

approximately when you received it?

No, I don't.

Okay.  You're looking now at the cc lines, correct?

Correct.

And you're cc'd there, correct?

Correct.

And you believe you received it some other way?

Correct; it might have been Dr. Redington.

And you said you would've read this when you got it.

Yes.

I'm going to ask you to look at the second page,

bottom of the first paragraph, you see where it says:  "We

never discriminate against students because of who they are.

All we ask" --

I'm sorry --

The very first paragraph, the last sentence

starts --

MR. CARROLL:  Right there (indicating).

BY MR. BAXTER:

-- "We never discriminate against students because

of who they are.  All we ask is that our leaders support and

uphold our goals and beliefs"; you see that?

Yes.

So this is a letter from Hannah Thompson, correct?

Correct.

And she is here distinguishing between

discriminating based on status and selecting leaders based on

their beliefs, correct?

Well, that's what she says.  I took -- when I read

this, I'm sure I took exception to it because my understanding

was that it was his status that led to the decision.

But it would be important to know which it was,

correct?

I'm not sure that I would see beliefs and status as

being completely inseparable.  I think that in some situations

someone's status overlaps with what their beliefs are.  If

someone reports that I'm openly gay, someone could say that

that's their belief, but I would -- to me that's a status

issue, not a beliefs issue.  So from my perspective, I

interpreted this at the time that she didn't understand that

what he was saying implicated his status.

Okay.  Could something implicate both status and

belief?

Yes, I suppose.

Could an individual who is gay believe that it is

wrong for them to act on their -- or to engage in homosexual

activity?

I think I got your question, but could you repeat it

just one more time.

Could a person who identifies as gay believe that it

is wrong for them to engage in homosexual activity?

Are you asking me in my personal belief?

Just asking if you're aware that people can do that.

Well, I think we discussed that this morning.

That's -- I think you're asking me about my personal belief,

so I'm not inclined to answer that.

Well, again, you have an obligation to uphold the
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Constitution, correct?

Correct.

And individuals have a right to maintain their

beliefs, correct, maintain their religious beliefs?

Individuals have a right to maintain their religious

beliefs, yes.

And that's a right protected by the First Amendment.

Generally speaking, yes.

Okay.  And that's a right protected by the

Free Speech Clause.

I'm not sure how -- I don't know enough about

constitutional law to know whether it's Free Speech Clause,

whether it's Free Exercise, or whatever.

But obviously it potentially implicates the

Free Exercise Clause, correct?

Again, I can't say.  It's not -- I'm not a judge.

Okay.  But you don't have any personal view of the

Constitution, Free Exercise Clause of the Constitution?

Well, I do --

Well, tell me whether you believe that the

Constitution -- the Free Exercise Clause to the Constitution

protects an individual's right to have their own beliefs.

MR. CARROLL:  Tom, you're here as a representative

from the University of Iowa.  If you don't want to discuss

your personal beliefs --

MR. BAXTER:  No.  George, he's here in his personal

capacity, and I'm asking this in his personal capacity.

MR. CARROLL:  Right, but he doesn't have to express

his personal belief.

MR. BAXTER:  I'm asking him to express his

understanding of the Constitution; he is required to answer

that question.

MR. CARROLL:  But you asked him personally.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Do you have a belief -- have an understanding of

whether the Constitution protects an individual's right to

maintain religious beliefs of their own choice?

I have a personal belief, and I'm not going to

discuss my personal beliefs.

MR. BAXTER:  Well, I'm -- let's get the judge on the

phone because I don't think there's any reason why he can't

answer that question.

          (A recess was taken.)

MR. BAXTER:  We'll go back on the record.

Mr. Baker, you already stated that as an employee of

the University, it was your obligation to uphold the

Constitution of the United States, correct?

Correct.

And that means if you observed violations of the

Constitution, you had an obligation to correct them; is that

correct?

I am not the Constitution enforcer at the University

of Iowa.  As an attorney, though, I do understand the

importance of having the final outcome of a case comport with

the Constitution, so in my 30-year experience, depending upon

where we're at in the process, depending upon who is involved

in the process, I may speak or I may not speak with the

General Counsel's office or I may speak or I may not speak

with one of the persons involved in the case -- in the

investigation, but I'm not going to immediately run to the

phone to call the General Counsel's office if I think that

there's a Constitutional violation that is just about to

happen.

And have you ever received any training as a

University employee on the Constitution or its meaning or how

it should be applied by the University?

I've attended a number of CLEs, but the training --

at least not that I know of, there's not any employment

training module that covers Constitutional law.

All right.  And have you personally received any

training on how the First Amendment applies on campus?

Not training per say.  As I say, I've attended a

number of CLEs.  I've -- so I have a general knowledge based

on information that other people have told me.

And that was concerning the First Amendment,

correct?

Well, yeah, not just the First Amendment but

included the First Amendment.

And from that, what have you learned about the

First Amendment?

Well, as you know, the different -- five or six

different principles embedded in the First Amendment.  The --

I'm not sure what the scope of your question is.  Do you want

me to talk about any -- and, again, I'm trying to understand,

is this what -- you're asking me about my personal beliefs

about the First Amendment, or does this have to do with how

the First Amendment has been interpreted?

As an employee of the University, did you have an

understanding of what the First Amendment means?

Yes.  I think so, yes.

And did you have an understanding of what the

Free Speech Clause means?

Yes, general understanding.

And did you have a general understanding of what the

Free Exercise Clause means?

No.

Okay.  And when you read Hannah Thompson's argument

that they did not discriminate against students because of who

they are, "All we is ask that our leaders support and uphold

our goals and beliefs," did that raise any First Amendment
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concerns in your mind?

I don't recall what went through my head when I read

this.

Ever in the process of the investigation by

Ms. Cervantes, did it ever raise Constitutional concerns in

your mind?

Well, I think in general when the case first came

in, that in the back of my mind was the potential for a

First Amendment claim, yes.

Okay.  And did you do anything to make sure that

Ms. Cervantes complied with the requirements of the

First Amendment?

No; I'm not her supervisor.

MR. BAXTER:  I'd like you to look at the exhibit

that's been marked as 99.

Ask the reporter to mark this (indicating)

Exhibit 99.

(Deposition Exhibit Number 99 was marked for

identification.)

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  The -- this was -- anticipated

our meeting to talk about the -- some of the historical

background to the Human Rights Policy.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Okay.  And did you go with her to talk to her about

the history?

Well, we met in my office it looks like.

And how long did you talk?

No idea.

Was it less than a half hour?

I don't know.

Do you have any recollection about what happened

during this conversation?

I remember talking about the event in the 1950s that

precipitated the formation of a group at the University of

Iowa to explore the idea of adopting a Human Rights Policy.

And what was that event?

It was an event where an historically white sorority

refused to accept an African-American member.

And what else did you talk about in that meeting?

I'm sure I talked to her about the fact that the

policy was written in 1963.  Boy, I --

Did you talk about whether the policy was an

"All Comers" Policy?

Hmm.  I don't know.

Do you remember a conversation with Connie Cervantes

where you told her that you wanted there to be an "All Comers"

Policy at the University?

No, I never -- I don't ever remember saying

explicitly that I wanted an "All Comers" Policy.

Do you recall saying that you wanted an "All Comers"

Policy but not in the pure sense so there could be an

exception for fraternities and sororities?

I don't recall a statement exactly to those words.

Okay.  Do you recall a statement to anything

similar?

The conversation -- I just cannot recall the

conversation.

Have you ever advocated for the adoption of an

"All Comers" Policy at the University?

No, I -- I mean -- 30-year career, by the time that

the CLS issue surfaced in 2004 -- by that time I was certainly

under the belief that groups could have membership standards.

I'm going to ask you to look at what should be in

there as Exhibit 106.

(The witness complied.)

Are you familiar with this document?

Oh, this is her decision; yes.

And when you said "her decision," can you --

Connie's decision, I'm sorry, June 30th, 2017.

Okay.  And do you see at the bottom of the first

page -- well, did you have any input into the substance of

this decision?

Other than just the general discussions we had about

the history of the Human Rights Policy and such, I don't

consider that to be participating in the decision.  It was her

decision, and whether she decided to dismiss the case or

sustain the complaint, that was her decision.

Okay.  And did you see any drafts of the findings

before they were finalized?

I believe I did.  I think a couple days before she

issued this (indicating) she sent out a draft.

Okay.  And did you propose any changes to the draft?

I don't remember telling her anything, and I don't

think I found anything in my email records.

Okay.  Looking at the first page of the Document

Number 106, do you see at the bottom where it says "The

following documents were reviewed:"?

(No response.)

Do you see where it says "The following documents"?

Yes.  I'm sorry.  Sorry.

And you see it says "Copy of Facebook Messenger

notes of meeting dates between Complainant and B"?

Yes.

Okay.  Did you ever ask to review those Messenger

notes?

I don't remember for sure.  I do recall looking at

-- I thought they were text messages, but maybe they were --

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look if

there's maybe Number 88 in the back, Document Number 88.

I'll ask the reporter to mark this (indicating)
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Exhibit 88.

(Deposition Exhibit Number 88 was marked for

identification.)

BY MR. BAXTER:

Are you familiar with that document?

I don't recall seeing this.  I may have seen it, but

it's -- I don't have a memory.

Okay.  But you recall seeing some other text

messages or something like that; is that correct?

I have a very general vague memory of -- maybe,

yeah.

But these are not what you remember seeing?

This is not what I remember for some reason.

Okay.  Looking back at Exhibit 106, you see there

where it identifies a May 17 email from Complainant to

Student B and a June 22nd email from Student B to Complainant?

Yes.

Do you recall if you reviewed those?

Those may have been the documents that I recall.

Okay.  I'm going to ask the reporter -- is there an

Exhibit 90 in your book?

No.

MR. BAXTER:  I'll ask the reporter to mark this

(indicating) as Exhibit 90.

(Deposition Exhibit Number 90 was marked for

identification.)

BY MR. BAXTER:

Why don't you take a minute and look through and see

if you're familiar with anything in these documents.

(The witness complied.)  I don't have a memory of

reading this.

Okay.  And looking back at Exhibit 106 on the next

page over, you see four lines down where it says "Chronology

prepared by Student B"?

Yes.

Do you have a recollection of reviewing that?

And remind me, Student B, is this --

Student B is Hannah Thompson.

Oh.  The name "chronology" doesn't stick out in my

mind.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to see if you already

have Exhibit 96.

Sorry.

MR. BAXTER:  Ask the reporter to mark this

(indicating) Exhibit 96.

(Deposition Exhibit Number 96 was marked for

identification.)

BY MR. BAXTER:

And have you seen a copy of --

The format of this strikes a cord.  I think I did

read this.

Okay.  And do you see where it says on April 27,

2016, "Meet for the second time.  Marcus tells me he is going

to live actively as a gay man.  I explain to Marcus that I

have been praying about this decision, reading the Bible, and

consulting the executive members and other trusted

acquaintances.  Based on BLinC's faith and foundation in the

Bible and as our authority, he cannot be on executive

leadership with BLinC because his lifestyle is inconsistent

with what the Bible says about his sin"; do you see that?

Yes.

And do you recall reading this around the time of

the investigation?

I mean I remember reading the document.  I don't

remember this particular part of the document, but I'm sure I

read it at the time.

Okay.  I'm going ask you to flip to what's in your

binder as Exhibit 108.

(The witness complied.)

Do you recall what this is?

Yes, I remember this.  This I wrote as a draft that

was never actually sent.  As you can see, there's no date.  At

the time I drafted this, it was my understanding that

Dr. Nelson was going to be meeting with -- sorry, I'm drawing

a blank on the name of Hannah's successor.

Jacob Estell?

Jacob, thank you.  It's my understanding that

Dr. Nelson was going to be meeting with Jacob to talk about

the decision by Connie, and so this I wrote as sort of a

conveyance document.  This is what my understanding with

Dr. Redington was, was that she wanted me to be the person to

sort of make sure that the EOD report got into our complaint

resolution system for student organization, and so I advised

Dr. Nelson here, and he did receive this as I recall.  I think

I sent him a draft and asked him if he had any questions about

-- and then as it turned out, I wound up -- he asked me to

attend the meeting on September 1st, so --

You say in the middle of the second paragraph that

the executive director is to schedule a time to meet and

discuss the case with the student organization representatives

before determining whether or not the actions of BLinC's

student leaders violated one more of the ten established rules

for student organizations; do you see that?

Yes.

So was the purpose of the meeting to make sure that

BLinC had had an opportunity to air all of its defenses?

Right, with -- specifically with regard to the rules

because the -- in order for BLinC or any other student

organization to be subject to disciplinary sanctions, there

had to be a violation of one of the rules, and this was not an
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issue that Connie had vetted in her decision; she was simply

issuing her interpretation of the Human Rights Policy, so if

-- the decision by Dr. Nelson would have had to have been

based on one of the ten rules.

Okay.  And where are those ten rules identified?

They were -- as I understood it, they were in the

document Resolution of Discipline of Registered Student

Organizations.

Okay.  And was it your understanding the meeting

would also be an opportunity for BLinC to appeal any of the

findings of Ms. Cervantes if they believed the findings were

inaccurate?

Well, the appeal process was the next step after

Dr. Nelson, as we call it an appeal.  So Dr. Nelson wasn't

hearing an appeal; he was adjudicating whether or not there

was a violation of one of the ten student organization rules.

Okay.  So Ms. Cervantes made a finding that BLinC

had violated the Human Rights Policy by denying Marcus Miller

leadership position based on his sexual orientation, correct?

I believe that's right.

And if BLinC believed that that finding was

factually wrong, who could they have appealed that factual

finding to?

Well, they could have expressed that to Dr. Nelson

during the meeting, and they could have also raised the issue

on appeal after Dr. Nelson issued his decision to

Dr. Redington, and Dr. Redington is the one that hears the

appeals.

So would you agree that in that process it was

important for Dr. Nelson and Dr. Redington to review all the

evidence that Ms. Cervantes considered?

I assume that's what they intended to do.

Is there any other appeal process from the EOD maybe

to another person at the EOD?

I don't know honestly.  I'm not familiar with the

EOD procedures.

And you participated in the meeting on

September 1st.

That's right.

And who do you recall was at that meeting?

Daniel, Eric, Tom --

You say "Daniel," you mean Daniel Blomberg?

Correct.  I'm sorry.

"Eric," you're referring to me I assume?

Correct.  Me and Dr. Nelson, and Jacob was there, I

believe.

Correct.  And do you recall Brett Eikenberry was

also there?

Is Brett another student?

Brett was another student representative of the --

Okay.  I'm sorry, I don't -- I'm not saying he

wasn't there.  I just don't remember -- if he spoke up, I

don't remember him speaking up.

Okay.  And why were you at that meeting?

'Cause Dr. Nelson had asked me to attend.

And did he tell you why he wanted you there?

I don't remember.  I know that it happened after

Dr. Nelson learned that you would be attending.

And did the two of you have any discussions going

into the meetings?

If we did, I don't recall what we talked about.

Okay.  Do you remember at the meeting telling the

representatives of BLinC that CLS had previously had a similar

issue and was allowed to maintain registered status because

its requirements prohibited sexual relationships outside of

marriage?

Correct.

And do you recall saying that groups can require

their leaders to be abstinent outside the institute of

marriage?

Yes, I believe I did say that.

Okay.  And do you recall saying that the University

could not tell an environmental group that it had to allow a

climate denier to become one of its leaders?

I don't have a specific memory of saying that, but

I'm not denying I said it.

So at that time it would be fair to say it was the

University's policy that student groups could require their

leaders to embrace the group's mission, correct?

As a general statement.  I think that's a fair

statement as a general -- there could be exceptions to that,

but --

And what would those exceptions be?

Again, depends on -- if a group's mission is to

pursue illegal activity, then -- so that's why I said as a

general statement, I think that's true.

Okay.  Do you recall that in that meeting there was

a difference between discrimination on the basis of belief

versus status versus conduct?

I remember having a discussion about status and

conduct.

But you don't recall any discussion about

discrimination on the basis of belief?

If we did talk about it, I don't remember it being

as a third category.

Okay.  Do you recall asking -- that either you or

Dr. Nelson asked BLinC if it would be willing to explain its

beliefs in the constitution?

No, I don't have memory of that.

Okay.  Do you remember Dr. Nelson telling BLinC that
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if they would amend their constitution to add an explanation

of their religious beliefs, that would allow students to know

what those beliefs were before they joined the group?

I don't have a specific memory of that, but I -- I

don't deny that it was said.

And do you remember explaining that that would give

-- allow the University to be able to better judge whether --

you know, when a complaint was filed, whether the student

group was complying with its own constitution?

I do have a general memory of talking about that,

about clarifying the constitution.

Okay.  And what was your recollection of what

happened by the end of the meeting, what conclusion the

parties had come to?

Well, my takeaways from the meeting were that there

was a general agreement that BLinC would not discriminate on

the basis of status and that if BLinC wanted to set conduct

expectations for -- I don't recall if it was members or

leaders that we were talking about, but the idea of having

conduct expectations with regard to sexual conduct outside of

marriage, that that's what I recall us coming to agreement on.

So when I left the meeting, my thought was that there just

needed to be clarity in the BLinC policies so that the next

time someone raised the issue about sexual orientation and the

next -- in other words, the next time that somebody said what

Marcus Miller said, that there would be rules about conduct

that could be used as a basis for further discussion with the

candidate to determine if the person was actively involved in

sex outside of marriage or if that's what they had plan --

were planning to do.

And you already stated several times, right, that it

was okay for a student group to require their members to

abstain from sex outside of marriage, correct?

Yes.

And is it also fair to say it was also okay for a

student group to require its members to abstain from sexual

activity outside of a marriage between a man and a woman?

I'm sorry, this is obviously an important question.

I want to make sure I understand.

Sure.  You indicated it was okay for a student

organization to prohibit their members from engaging in sexual

activity outside of marriage, correct?

Correct.

And was it also okay for them to prohibit their

members from engaging in sexual activity outside of marriage

between a man and a woman?

Yes; that's what my understanding was, just the same

-- to me our discussion on September 1st reminded me of the

discussion I had had 13 years earlier with the CLS students.

And is it fair to say that BLinC agreed that it

would specify in its constitution that members would be

prohibited from -- or that leaders would be prohibited from

engaging in sexual activity outside of marriage between a man

and woman?

I'm a little confused by that because sexual

activity outside of marriage between a man and a woman -- what

I recall was any sexual activity outside of marriage, that

adding "a man" or "a woman" complicates the discussion a

little bit, and I don't ever recall -- 'cause that sort of

creates, then, the idea of what if two same-sex people are in

a legal marriage, and I don't recall us going down that rabbit

hole during our discussion.

Okay.  But you just said either way it would be

permissible under the Human Rights Policy, correct?

No, I -- that's -- that's not what we talked about,

and I don't -- if it had been requested, if I had understood

that BLinC was requesting permission to exclude gay people who

are married, then I would have had a -- I would have had a

number of conversations about that because that would have

been a novel issue to me.

Okay.  So your prior statement on the record that

you thought they were both permissible, both requirements were

permissible, you're now disavowing?

By "prior record," I'm not sure --

I'll just let the record stand where it is on that.

Why do you think it makes a difference -- can you

explain again why you think it makes a difference whether the

requirement was to prohibit sex outside of marriage and

outside of marriage between a man and a woman?

Because the one is clearly content-neutral, and the

other one is arguably not content-neutral.  So in other words,

when the CLS said that all CLS members need to refrain from

sex outside of marriage, that applied equally to heterosexuals

and homosexuals.

Okay.

So from my perspective, that was a content-neutral

way to reconcile the Statement of Faith with Human Rights

Policy, so --

And what if they asked students to abstain from sex

outside of marriage between a man and a woman and that

requirement applied to both -- applied to all students;

wouldn't that also make it content-neutral?

Well, no, because I interpret that between a man and

a woman as meaning -- I'm inferring that that means that gay

marriages are not considered -- persons involved in gay

marriage are not eligible for consideration, so that never

came up in the discussions with CLS, and I don't remember that

coming up on September 1.

Okay.  And so is it your position that the -- I'm

just trying to understand how you can -- how a religious
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student group could restrict -- could prohibit sexual activity

outside of marriage between a man and a -- outside of marriage

generally but not outside of marriage between a man and a

woman and how the University can distinguish between those two

religious beliefs.

(No response.)

Let's say a student organization has a religious

belief that people should not in engage in sexual activity

unless they're married and they don't distinguish between

whether that marriage is a homosexual or heterosexual

marriage; you're saying that student group could require its

members to live in accordance with that belief, correct?

Yes.

But a religious student group that believed that

sexual activity was prohibited outside of marriage between a

man and a woman, that the student group cannot require its

members to live by that oath, correct?

Well, I don't know.  It's never come up before.

Since I'm not the spokesperson for the Human Rights Policy --

that issue had come up during the September 1 meeting; if I

had heard that said, there would have been -- I would have

told some of my colleagues that there's a novel issue out

that's been raised that needs to be vetted.

Okay.  And if Bill Nelson agreed that that was

discussed at the 9 -- or the September 1 meeting and that he

agreed that both standards would be okay, would you have any

reason to contradict him?

I just don't -- yes, I don't remember that being

said.

And would you have any reason to contradict his

decision that both standards would be acceptable?

Well, yes, because I don't remember that.

Okay.

That being discussed.

But if it had been discussed, would you have any

reason to oppose that both would be acceptable?

Well, yes, I think that -- because that would

involve a novel interpretation of the Human Rights Policy, I

would have recommended that Bill speak to whoever needed to be

spoken to to see if that was acceptable interpretation of the

Human Rights Policy.

Ask you to look at what's been marked as

Exhibit 109.

(The witness complied.)

Are you familiar this document?

I noticed it yesterday when I was looking through

the file.  This is Jacob's letter to Dr. Redington dated

July 14, 2017; he's appealing Connie's decision.

And did you ever review this letter at the time --

around the time of the investigation or Lyn Redington's

decision?

I believe so.  I think Dr. Redington shared it with

me, and it was I'm sure a short conversation because it was --

when I read it, it was clear that there was some confusion

about what and when the appeal process went into effect.

Okay.  On the second paragraph of that letter, you

see where it says:  "The student participated in BLinC before

asking for a leadership position, and remains welcome to

participate -- even as a leader, regardless of sexual

orientation.  The student was not eligible to be a leader of

BLinC only because he stated that he disagrees with, and would

not try to live by, BLinC's Christian principles, which means

he could not effectively lead our group"; do you remember

reading that?

Pardon me, let me read this again.

I don't remember this being in the letter, but my

memory is there was a procedural issue that needed to be

clarified, so --

Okay.  Other than the procedural issue, did you

discuss anything in this letter with Dr. Redington?

No.

I'm going to ask you to look at what's been marked

as Exhibit 114.

This is the September 13th, 2017, letter from

Dr. Nelson to Jacob, the president of BLinC.

And did you read this letter before it went out?

I think I suggested to Bill some of the numbers.

There's three points, and I -- as I recall, there was an email

conversation about what those points should look like, and I

suggested some language.

Okay.  The second point it says:  "Submit a basic

list of qualifications for leaders of your organization

designed to prevent future disqualifications based on

protected categories and to ensure that persons who identified

as non-heterosexuals are not categorically eliminated from

consideration"; you see that?

Yes.

What do you mean by "not categorically eliminated"?

Well, to me this is what we're talking about when

we're talking about a status decision.  Somebody says "I'm

gay," and because they say that they're gay, they're not --

there's no further questions; there's no further

consideration.

Okay.  And if an organization had a standard that

just said no members can engage in sexual activity, period,

would that have satisfied this requirement?

I'm not sure.  I don't know that I've thought about

that.

Well, would -- a standard that forbids all

individuals from engaging in sexual activity, would that
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categorically eliminate non-heterosexuals?

I don't know.  I mean the -- I wasn't planning on

participating in a decision, so I didn't have any --

personally didn't have any expectations about what -- how it

would apply to hypothetical situations.

Did you help draft this letter, help draft this

language?

I did.

And what was your purpose in putting it in?

So that we could state that the appropriate action

has been taken to avoid situations coming up in the future

like what happened with Marcus Miller.

But you have no idea what would have satisfied that

category?

It never came up.

Okay.  Did you have any thoughts on what BLinC might

do in order to meet that requirement?

I mean the language that CLS used might have

satisfied number 2.

Did you provide that language to BLinC?

I don't remember.  Did we -- we may have talked

about it on September 1, but I don't --

Well, I'm just trying to understand.  I mean you

understand what was meant by "categorically eliminate," right?

(No response.)

That's language that you wrote or approved, correct?

Well, I -- could you repeat your question.

Sure.  You said that you -- you asked BLinC to

submit language, and if they wanted to be reinstated, they

needed to submit language that would ensure that persons who

identified as non-heterosexual are not categorically

eliminated, correct?

Right; and the answer I gave a minute ago was

something along the CLS provision.

So would a statement that all members have to

abstain from sexual activity -- would that have satisfied this

language?

Well, that's not what CLS said.

I'm just asking you if it would have satisfied the

language regardless of what CLS said.

From prohibiting sex -- I mean you talking about

like the Shakers?

Sure.  If they said no members between -- no sexual

activity between our members -- no sexual activity by members.

I've never even thought about the possibility that a

religious organization would maintain the Shakers' practice of

complete abstention.

But that would avoid categorically eliminating

non-heterosexuals, correct?

I don't know; it could.

Well, it would, right, because if every member was

required to meet that standard, it wouldn't matter if they are

heterosexual or homosexual, correct?

Yeah, I -- I guess.  I'm just not sure -- that seems

like a preposterous proposal to me.

But it would meet the requirement.

Probably.  I'm comfortable saying that it would

probably meet the requirement.

Okay.  And a requirement that all individuals

abstain from sexual activity outside of a marriage between a

man and woman would also avoid categorically eliminating

non-heterosexuals, correct?

Depends on the how the language "man and a woman" is

interpreted.

What difference would that -- what different ways

could that be interpreted?

As we talked about a few minutes ago, if

non-heterosexuals who are in a marriage are not eligible to be

members, then that could pose a problem for the Human Rights

Policy.

Well, it wouldn't categorically eliminate

non-heterosexuals, right, because it would eliminate anybody

who engaged in sex outside a man and a woman?

I'm not sure that we're communicating here.  What I

interpret the words that you use "between a man and a woman"

as being -- imply -- and maybe I'm -- maybe I'm inferring this

incorrectly, but to me when you say "outside of marriage

between a man and a woman," that means -- or it could mean

that homosexuals who are in a homosexual marriage cannot be

members of BLinC.

Right, but -- could not be leaders, but that

requirement would also exclude all single people, right,

regardless of their sexual orientation?

I'm not following this.

Okay.  This is not rocket science.  I'm trying to

keep this simple.

Well, I think it's rocket science what you're

talking about.  When you're talking about a student

organization that's contemplating becoming Shakers, that is

rocket science.

If a student organization has a requirement that no

leaders can participate in sexual activity outside of marriage

between a man and a woman, that would exclude all single

people who engaged in sexual activity, correct?

Yes, it would; non-married.

Whether they're homosexual or heterosexual, correct?

Right.

So it wouldn't categorically eliminate

non-heterosexuals?

I see your point.  You're correct.
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Okay.  I'd like to look now at the third requirement

on the next page.  This says:  "Submit an acceptable plan for

ensuring that group officers who interview leaders will ask

questions relative to the vision statement that are not

presumptive of candidates based upon their sexual

orientation."  What does that mean to be presumptive based on

their sexual orientation?

Well, what that means, what I was envisioning by

this language was that their -- that if the issue of sexual

orientation was raised by a candidate, that there would be a

series of follow-up questions consistent -- like, for example,

if under number 2, if BLinC adopted language like the CLS

language, that there would be questions about are you

currently in a marriage relationship, are you actively

sexually involved outside of marriage, things like that.

Okay.  Is it fair to say that someone could read

that as requiring BLinC to not ask -- to not assume anything

about someone's sexual orientation?

That wasn't my intention.

Okay.  So when you say "presumptive of a candidate's

sexual orientation," you didn't mean to tell BLinC not to

assume anything about their sexual orientation.

Correct.

Can you tell me again what you meant to say.

Well, what I meant to say was that the questions

would elaborate on the issues that we discussed at the

September 1 meeting, issues like are you involved in a sexual

relationship outside of marriage, things like that.

You were encouraging them to ask those kinds of

questions, or not ask those --

To ask those kinds of questions.  If -- well, I left

it open.  They could ask those questions during the interview

or they could decide to ask those questions only if the issue

of sexual orientation came up, so there's a number of

different ways it could have been.

Are you aware that BLinC submitted a revised

constitution in response to this letter?

I believe that's true.  I -- yes.  Yes, I do

remember being told -- yes, I do remember -- yes, because I

was trying to figure out what follow-up to give 'cause I was

still under the belief that -- what my understanding of the

September 1 meeting was was that we were -- we could reach an

agreement on this, and I thought that there needed to be more

clarification.

Okay.  Did you review the constitution that BLinC

submitted?

Yes.

And did you review what changes had been made?

Yes.

And do you recall what those changes were?

Well, I don't recall exactly the language that

appeared in the constitution.  What I do remember was the

information I was looking for about the number 2, that I

didn't see that in the constitution or in the Statement of

Faith.

Okay.  And did you talk to Bill Nelson about the

changes that had been made?

I did.  I -- well, I don't know that I talked with

him face-to-face.  I know that he and I exchanged a number of

emails.

About the revised constitution.

Yes.

And is there any reason why those weren't produced

in the litigation?

You're asking the wrong person.

Well, when you were asked to produce documents, did

you search for those communications with Bill Nelson?

Yes.

And in return did you turn those over to whoever was

asking you for documents?

I believe I did.

Okay.  Do you remember what the substance of those

emails was?

There was one email where I was asking -- let's see.

This (indicating) was I think an email to Nate Levin -- yes,

it was an email to Nate Levin and it --

MR. LEVIN:  I'm going to object based on

attorney-client privilege.

MR. CARROLL:  Yeah, I'm going to -- you have the

right to ask about foundation, who did you send the emails to,

but past that, then it is attorney-client privilege.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Okay.  I'm asking you about emails you sent to Bill

Nelson, correct?

Just to Bill Nelson?

Did you send emails to Bill Nelson that included

other people on the email?

I know that Bill was copied on an email that I sent

to Nate.

Okay.  And did you have any email communications

with Bill Nelson that Nate was not on?

I don't recall.

Can you double-check your email to make sure those

have been produced.

Sure.

What was the substance of your communication to Bill

Nelson?

MR. CARROLL:  And can you answer that without

revealing attorney-client privilege?  So, for example, if you

had your own independent conversation, that's a fair question.
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THE WITNESS:  I don't recall if I had an independent

conversation with Bill.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Okay.  Did you draw your own conclusion about the

suitability of BLinC's revised constitution?

Yes, because it was apparent to me that the numbered

points had not been addressed.

Okay.  Well, let's look at the revised constitution.

Ask you to look at Document 116.

MR. CARROLL:  Do you need a break?

THE REPORTER:  Yes, shortly.

MR. BAXTER:  Yeah, we can; 15-minute break.

          (A recess was taken.)

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  We'll go back on the record.

We're looking at Exhibit 116; you see that in front

of you?

Yes.

And you recognize this as the revised constitution

of BLinC?

Correct, dated September 27th, 2017.

And you see at the bottom the very last line says:

"All officers are required to affirm they accept and live

BLinC's religious beliefs as set forth in its Statement of

Faith"; you see that?

Yes.

And is there any problem with including that

requirement in any student organization's constitution?

Well, it depends on what's in the Statement of

Faith.

Okay.  Let's take a look at the last page of that

exhibit, number 3559; do you see down there the "DOCTRINE OF

PERSONAL INTEGRITY"?

Yes.

Do you recall that this was added to BLinC's

Statement of Faith in this version?

I believe that's right.  I think it may have even

been added in August or something; I could be wrong about

that.

Okay.  Well, let's -- I'll represent to you that

this statement was not in the original constitution, and it

was in the revised constitution.  Do you see the sentence that

starts:  "We believe God's intention for a sexual relationship

is to be between a husband and a wife in the lifelong covenant

of marriage"?

Yes.

And do you see it says:  "Every other sexual

relationship beyond husband and a wife" -- "every other sexual

relationship beyond this is outside of God's design and is not

in keeping with God's original plan for humanity"?

Yes.

And then it says:  "We believe that every person

should embrace, not reject, their God-given sex"?

Yes.

Is there anything wrong with BLinC adding this to

their constitution?

Because it raises question about the status of

non-heterosexual students, I raise the question about whether

or not this should be accepted if there was a way to modify it

-- or to propose that it be modified in a way that would be

acceptable, and when I say "proposed to be modified," I don't

mean modifying the Doctrine of Personal Integrity.  I mean

adding a statement that would reconcile the Membership

Section 1, Article II with the Doctrine of Personal Integrity.

And if BLinC had just deleted those three lines and

resubmitted its constitution, would it have been acceptable to

you?

I can't say for certain that it would have, but it

may have.

It would have reduced your concern about the

constitution?

Yes.

Okay.  And when you say that you propose it being

modified, who did you propose that to?

That was information in my email to Nate Levin.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look at what's been

marked as Exhibit 117.

MR. CARROLL:  We don't have it.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  I'm asking the court reporter to

mark this (indicating) as Exhibit 117.

(Deposition Exhibit Number 117 was marked for

identification.)

BY MR. BAXTER:

You recognize this document?

I'm sure it's a legitimate document.  When I looked

through the documents yesterday, this one didn't stick out in

my mind, but it didn't -- so what I see here is that it's

dated September 28th, so it was dated the day after the date

on the revised constitution, and what I was doing here, then,

would have been -- I was asking to see -- because the -- I

wanted to make sure that I knew what was new in the

constitution and what -- oh, pardon me.  What was new in the

Statement of Faith.

And so did you get a copy of the Statement of Faith

from Connie, the old statement?

Yeah, I did.  I mentioned a few minutes ago

something about an August statement, and I -- but I think --

unless I'm mistaken that -- I don't think there was a

Statement of Faith; I think that's what I learned, but I --

Was there something you were given to compare with

the new Statement of Faith?
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I believe what I was sent was a document that's

dated in August.

Do you recall something that was given to you that

was dated in August that was called the Vision Statement?

I think that's what it was called.

Okay.  And did Connie send that to you by email, or

did she deliver it to you in person?

I don't remember.

Okay.  And did you compare that Vision Statement to

the Statement of Faith that was added to the constitution?

I'm sure I did.

You're sure you didn't?

I'm sure I did.

Okay.  Can you turn to what's been -- do you have

Exhibit 95?

No.

MR. BAXTER:  I'm going to ask the reporter to mark

this (indicating) document as Exhibit 95.

(Deposition Exhibit Number 95 was marked for

identification.)

BY MR. BAXTER:

These are notes that Ms. Cervantes took of her

Hannah Thompson interview; do you recall seeing those notes

before?

If I did see them, I don't recall seeing them.

Okay.  If you turn to the very last page, there's a

Vision Statement; do you see that?

Yes.

Okay.  And this is the document that you asked --

Okay.

That you received from Ms. Cervantes; is that

correct?

Yes, and this is where my memory of August comes in.

Okay.  And why were you comparing that to the new

Statement of Faith?

Because I wanted to see what the proposed changes

were since it wasn't self-evident.

Okay.  And that's how you learned what additions had

been made to the Statement of Faith?

Correct.

Okay.  And I'm going to ask you to look at what's

been marked as Exhibit 118.

This is Dr. Nelson's --

MR. CARROLL:  Wait for questions.

BY MR. BAXTER:

Do you recognize this document?

Yes.

What is it?

This is October 19th, 2017, letter from Dr. Nelson

to Jacob Estell, the president of BLinC.

And did you help draft this letter?

No.

You were cc'd on it, correct?

Correct.

Did you suggest any of the content of it?

No.

Did you review it after you first received it?

I'm sure I scanned it.

Okay.  And do you see in the second sentence where

it says:  "The Statement of Faith, on its face, does not

comply with the University's Human Rights policy"?

MR. CARROLL:  You're talking about the second

sentence of the first --

BY MR. BAXTER:

First paragraph.

Okay.  Okay.  I see that sentence.

And as you understand it, what does it mean the

Statement of Faith, on its face, violates the Human Rights

Policy?

I'm not sure what that term "on its face" was

intended; to me that indicates that there is a serious

shortcoming with the revised constitution.

And this suggested the constitution would have been

in violation of the Human Rights Policy even without the prior

incident with Marcus Miller, correct?

I'm sorry, could you repeat your question.

Saying the Statement of Faith on its face does not

comply with the Human Rights Policy suggests that just having

that Statement of Faith by itself was a violation of the

Human Rights Policy regardless of whether or not a student had

actually been rejected for leadership because of it, correct?

I'm not sure I can offer my opinion about that.

That's not something I was ever asked to consider.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you to look at Exhibit

Number 119; do you recognize this document?

I believe this was the decision on appeal -- this is

a letter to Jacob from Dr. Redington dated November 16th,

2017.

And did Dr. Redington consult you when she drafted

this letter?

She did not.

Did you provide any substance for the letter?

No.

Okay.  Did you read the letter?

After I received it?

Did you read it at any time?

As you know, I was copied on it, and I'm sure I

scanned it quickly.  I saw that the -- her decision was to

uphold Dr. Nelson's decision.

Okay.  And who outside of lawyers at the University
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were the final decision-makers for how to apply the

Human Rights Policy in this case; was it Dr. Redington?

I don't know who Dr. Redington consulted with.

You're not aware if she talked with the University

president or anything like that?

Correct.

Okay.  I'm going to ask you if you have it to look

at a document -- well, tell me about your involvement in the

24:7 investigation; did you sit in on any interviews?

Yes; there were -- Craig Nierman whose name has come

up today, Craig represented 24:7, and if I recall, there were

two interviews that I sat in on; this would have been in --

around March --

Okay.

-- of 2017.

And do you remember whose interviews those were or

who was being interviewed?

Oh.  I'm sorry, I -- I don't remember.

Was it Scott Gaskill?

Could have been.  I don't remember.

Do you remember if you sat in on Jacob Boyd's

interview?

His name sounds familiar.  I believe that one of the

meetings that I attended, that Jacob Boyd was present.

What about Justin Dodd, do you believe you were in

his interview?

I can't say for sure.

All right.  And what's your understanding of how the

24:7 investigation concluded?

Well, I believe that Connie dismissed the case

against 24:7.

And do you recall why she dismissed it?

I don't.

Did you read her investigation report?

I did.

And you don't recall why she decided not to issue

findings against 24:7?

I don't.

Do you recall that 24:7 stated that students who

wanted to live actively -- actively live a gay lifestyle would

not be eligible for leadership positions?

I know that issue came up during the interviews.  I

don't recall what was said on behalf of 24:7.

Okay.  But you would have read the report from

Connie on that issue -- on the findings, correct?

Yeah, I'm sure I scanned it to see what the result

was.

Okay.  And if there were language in that report

where 24:7 acknowledged that it required all of its leaders or

Bible study leaders to abstain from sexual activity outside of

marriage between a man and a woman, would you expect the same

outcome would have been achieved between the BLinC and the

24:7 investigations?

I can't say because I don't know what her grounds

were for a ruling for dismissing the case.

Okay.  I'd like you to look at Exhibit Number 81.

MR. CARROLL:  Should be over there (indicating).

THE WITNESS:  (The witness complied.)

BY MR. BAXTER:

Do you see on the bottom under "Response" on page 3?

Okay.

Okay.  Do you see where it says:  "It is 24:7's

position that the church staff had not yet made a decision on

Complainant's application to be a Bible study leader in 24:7,

and that 24:7 is entitled to restrict the leadership in 24:7

to those who agree with the theology 24:7 follows from

Parkview, which includes the belief that homosexuality is a

sin"?  So you agree that 24:7 -- Connie found that 24:7 had a

leadership standard that required leaders to agree that

homosexuality was a sin, correct?

I'm not sure if it says that.  She says 24:7 --

24:7's position is that they are entitled to restrict the

leadership.

Okay.  And so how are you distinguishing that from

what I say?

Unless I misunderstood you, I think you asked me if

24:7 had a policy.

But if they had a policy, would you have expected

that Connie would have reached the same conclusion as she did

in BLinC?

I can't say that.

And why not?

I don't know what -- how she formulated her

decision.

Would it have been okay under your understanding of

the Human Rights Policy for 20:7 (sic) to have leadership

standards that required students to affirm that homosexuality

is a sin?

MR. CARROLL:  I'm sorry, you said 20:7?

BY MR. BAXTER:

24:7?

I'm sorry, could you repeat it again.

Yeah.  Would it have been okay if 24:7 did have a

standard that required leaders to agree that homosexuality is

a sin?

You're asking me?

Yes.

As far as I know, as I had understood the

Human Rights Policy, that I would have not considered that to

be a problem.
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Okay.  But you testified earlier that it was a

problem for BLinC to include -- require an affirmation or

similar statement from its constitutions; how do you

distinguish the two?

Well, this says "includes a belief that

homosexuality is a sin"; to me that's different language than

what's in the BLinC constitution.

And as a University official, are you comfortable

judging between how one religious organization states its

religious beliefs and how the other one states its religious

beliefs?

Well, first of all, I didn't judge it in this case.

If I had been asked to do the investigation myself, I'm not

sure what I would have concluded.

I'm going to ask you a few questions, and we'll take

a short break and see if we're done.  Are you familiar with

the University's OrgSync page?

I'm not actually.  I know I reviewed OrgSync

software for a number of years, but I've never used it myself;

I've never had access.

Are you aware that some registered student

organizations on campus are designated as religious or

spiritual student organizations?

Under OrgSync?

Correct.

No.

Are you aware of a similar categorization outside of

OrgSync?

No.

Does the Human Rights Policy prevent religious

student organizations from engaging in prayer in their student

meetings?

No.

Would it prohibit them from worshipping or providing

religious teachings in their meetings?

No.

What if those teachings included teachings that

homosexuality is a sin?

As far as I know -- again, I'm not the spokesperson

for Human Rights Policy, but as far as I know, that's not a

closed case; that's simply doing what student organizations do

during their meetings.

And would the Human Rights Policy prohibit students

from preaching at their meetings that all students should

abstain from sexual activity outside of marriage between a man

and a woman?

Again, I'm not -- you're asking if that's consistent

with the Human Rights Policy.

Correct.

Correct.  As a person who used to be involved in

Human Rights Policy investigations, I would say that as far as

I know, it's not a violation.

Okay.  Would the University of Iowa allow Jewish

student groups to observe holy days such as Yom Kippur?

When you say "observe holy days," do you mean to be

excused from class?

Or to do anything to celebrate that holiday.

Certainly as long as it's consistent with University

student room reservation policies and things like that.

And the University would even allow religious

students to miss school if they needed to for religious

observance, correct?

Well, I -- the University adopted a policy about

15 years ago, and I was not involved in formulating the

policy.  I haven't looked at the policy in a while.  The

reason why I'm ambivalent is that the usual rule about classes

is that the instructor decides if the -- a student is a

legitimate absentee, so I don't know exactly what the policy

says about religious holidays with regard to whether the

students have to be approved or not.

Okay.  So -- but you agree that the University would

allow religious student groups to pray, worship, preach,

administer sacraments, and so forth as part of their

activities as a student group?

Now, the administration of sacraments, as far as I

know, this is a hypothetical issue.  As you know, in the

Widmar case in 1981, that issue wasn't discussed about

religious ceremonies, and I've -- so I -- if that issue were

to come up, if we had any -- well, and maybe it has come up,

I'm not sure.  Nobody would contact me if it did come up, but

as -- if the constitution requires that student organizations

have the constitutional right to conduct religious services in

University facilities, then we would certainly do that.

Okay.  And for a religious student organization to

do all those things, pray, worship, preach, administer

sacraments, those are similar to what churches off campus do,

correct?

Correct.

So in that respect, Christian religious student

organization meetings could be the functional equivalent of a

church service, correct?

Correct.  Like I said, I have that asterisk about

administering sacraments and such; I assume that they would

have a right to do that, but I'm not a constitutional expert

on that issue.

And you agree that if student organizations wanted

to do that, it would be important for them to have leaders who

could pray, preach, worship, and administer sacraments for

that group's faith, correct?

Ask your question again.
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If a religious student organization on campus wanted

to engage in prayer, worship, preaching, the administration of

sacraments, it would be important for them to have leaders who

share their faith, correct?

Well, the group's going to have leaders.  If you're

asking is it important that they have leaders or is it

important that they have leaders who share their faith, I

assume it's leaders who share their faith, and I mean it would

be important to me as an administrator that there would be

people within our community who could facilitate the

conducting of services if sacraments are permitted; then I

would hope that there would be somebody in our community who

is ordained to administer sacraments.

So you don't think it's important for students to be

able to pick their own leader to do that?

That's a different question than the question of

whether or not it is important that they have leaders who

share their faith.  The question you're asking now is is it

important that the leaders -- pardon me, that the student

members of the group select their own leaders, and if we're

talking about religious ceremonies, I'm not sure what to think

about that because in a number of denominations, the

ceremonies have to be conducted by trained officials in the

church.

MR. BAXTER:  Let's take a ten-minute break and see

if we have any final questions.

MR. CARROLL:  Okay.

               (A recess was taken.)

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  We're back on the record.

Mr. Baker, after Lyn Redington issued her letter

about deregistering BLinC, did you have any further

involvement in the matter?

You're referencing the November 16th, 2017, decision

on appeal?

Correct.

I did not have any involvement.

Have you communicated with anyone since then about

the BLinC matter outside of lawyers?

I mean I told my wife that I've been sued if that's

what you mean.

Okay.  Did you have any involvement as a University

employee in -- have you had any level of involvement with

student organizations on campus since Dr. Redington's letter?

I don't believe so.  I'm trying to remember if any

of the Title IX cases I worked on involved a student

organization; nothing comes to mind.

Okay.  Are you aware that the University has

commenced a thorough review of all student group constitutions

on campus?

Yes, I was told that.

And who were you told that by?

I don't remember.

Have you had any involvement in that review?

No.

You mentioned earlier you're aware that there was a

policy change that allows fraternities and sororities to

discriminate on the basis of sex in their admissions; is that

correct?

No; the -- what I talked about was same-sex student

organizations that are not residential.

Okay.  And what's the difference between -- are

there any non -- are there any residential student groups

besides fraternities and sororities?

Not that I know of.

Okay.  And what's the policy change that you refer

to with respect to nonresidential?

Well, this is a case with a music fraternity that

was a national organization, and they had a local chapter.  As

I recall, there was a -- there were two actually that had been

in existence for decades, one for women, one for men, both for

music majors.

Okay.  Are you aware of any changes to any

University policies concerning fraternities and sororities?

I didn't --

MR. CARROLL:  That's really broad.  Can you narrow

it to what --

BY MR. BAXTER:

Well, are you aware of any policy changes between

fraternities and sororities on campus that happened since

Dr. Redington issued her letter?

MR. CARROLL:  Oh, okay.  I'm sorry.

THE WITNESS:  Oh, okay.  No, not that I know of.

BY MR. BAXTER:

In your work as a Title IX investigator, does that

involve any work with fraternities and sororities on campus?

It does at times; if there's a -- well, sexual

assault, for example, in a fraternity house, I've had a few of

those over the years; that's one example.

And are you aware of whether the University is

planning to issue a new policy for student organizations?

A new policy for student organizations?  I -- if

we're talking about something that is a monumental change, I'm

not aware of anything.  There may be minor changes that are

being promulgated for technical things about contracts or

things like that, but I'm not aware of any monumental change

in the way that -- affecting student organization policy.

And are you aware of any discussions on campus to

move to an "All Comers" Policy?

No.

MR. BAXTER:  Okay.  I have no further questions.
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MR. CARROLL:  All right.  You are free to go.

(The deposition concluded at 4:11 p.m., August 16,

2018.)
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certify that there came before me at the time, date, and place
hereinbefore indicated, the witness named on the caption sheet
hereof, who was by me duly sworn to testify to the truth and
nothing but the truth concerning the matters in this
cause.
               I further certify that I am neither attorney or
counsel for, nor related to or employed by any of the parties
to the action in which this deposition is taken; and
furthermore, that I am not a relative or employee of any
attorney or counsel employed by the parties hereto or
financially interested in the action.
               IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand
and affixed my Notarial Seal this ______12th_____ day of
October, 2018.

                         /s/ Tracy A. Hamm   
                         Tracy A. Hamm
                         Certified Shorthand Reporter
                         and Notary Public
                         My Commission Expires:  4-23-19
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S-c-h-a-n-t-z

sacraments

same-sex

sanction
sanctions

Sanders

sat

satisfied

saw

scan

scanned

Schantz

schedule

scheduled

scheduling

school

Science

science

scope

Scott
screen

screening

scrutinized

Seal
search

searched

second

seconds

section
Section

see

seeing

segregated

select

selected

selecting

selection

self

self-evident

self-identified

send

sends
sense

sent

sentence

sentences

separate

separated

separation

September

sequitur
series

serious

serve

served
service

services

Services

Services'
serving
session

set

sets
setting
several

sex

sex-segregated

sexual

sexually

Shakers

Shakers'

shall
share

shared

sharing

sheet
shifted
short

shortcoming

Shorthand

shorthand

shortly
show
showed
shows
sic

sign

signature

signed

significance

significant

signing

similar

similarly

simple
simply

sin

sinful
single

single-gender

single-page

sit

situated
situation

situations

six
skill
skin
smaller

smiling

social

Society

society

Society's

software

solely
soliloquy

someone

sometime

sometimes

somewhat

sororities

sorority

sorry

220sort

sought

sounds

SOUTHERN

space
speakers

speaking

special
specialist

specific

specifically

specified

specify
speculate

speculating

speech

Speech

speeches

spell
spelled

spiritual

split
spoken

spokesperson

sports

staff

stake
stalking
stand

standard

standards
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standing
standpoint

start

started

starting
starts

State

state

Statement

statement

statements

Statements

States
states

STATES
status

statute

stay
step

steps
Steven
Stevenson

stick

sticks
still

stop

storage
stored
Street

strikes
strongly

strongly-held

Student

student

student's

Students

students

Students'

studied
study

stump
style
sub
sub-definition

subcategory

subdirectory

subgroup

subject

submit

submitted

subscribe

substance

successor

sued
suggest

suggested

suggests

suit
suitability

Suite
summary

supervising

supervisor

supplemental

support

supporters

suppose

supposed

Supreme

surfaced

surprise

surprised

survive
sustain
Swedenborgian

sworn

system

tab

table
tabs
takeaways

talks

targeting

TB
teachings

team
teams

technical

telephone

telephoned

template
Templeton

ten

ten-minute

tenets

tense
tenure

term

terminology

terms

test

tested
testified

testify

testimony

text

THE

theology

theoretically

they've

thicker

thinking

third

THOMAS

Thomas

Thompson

Thompson's

thorough

thoughts

thread
three

Thursday

Tiffini

timely
Tippie
title

Title

titles
today

together

Tom

221Tom's
took

top

topic

topics

tough
toward

towards
town
track
Tracy

traditionally

train
trained

training

transcribe

transcribing

transfer

transgender

transgenderism

treat

treated

treating

treatment

treats

trigger
triggered
triggers
true

Trump

trusted
truth

try
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trying

turn

turned

turning

two

type

types

typically
typing

U.S

UDems

UI
UISG

umbrella
under

underlying

undersigned

understood

unequal
unfortunately

unilaterally

Union
UNITED
United
University

university

UNIVERSITY

University's

unless

unusual

unwelcoming

unwillingness

up

uphold

uses

usual
utility

vague
value
Van

various
verbally
verbatim

version

versus

veteran
vetted

vetting

vice

Vice

view

viewpoint

viewpoints

views

violate

violated

violates

violating

violation

violations

violence

vision
Vision

vote

voting

vs

wait

walk

Walnut
wants
warming

Washington

ways

website

week

weighed

welcome

welcomed

West
whereas
WHEREOF

white
whole
Widmar

wife

willing
wind
wishes
WITNESS

witness

witnesses

woman

women

Women

women's

women-only

wondering

word

word-for-word

worded

words

works
world

worship

worshipping

would've

wound
write
writes
writing

written

wrote

year

years

222
yesterday

Yom
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       IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
        FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA
                EASTERN DIVISION

BUSINESS LEADERS IN 
CHRIST, an 
unincorporated 
association,

         Plaintiff,

    vs.

THE UNIVERSITY OF 
IOWA; LYN REDINGTON, 
in her official 
capacity as Dean of 
Students and in her 
individual capacity; 
THOMAS R. BAKER, in 
his official capacity 
as Assistant Dean of 
Students and in his 
individual capacity; 
and WILLIAM R. NELSON, 
in his official 
capacity as Executive 
Director, Iowa 
Memorial Union, and in 
his individual 
capacity, 

         Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

  CASE NO. 3:17-CV-00080  

  Deposition of

  CONSTANCE A. SCHRIVER
  CERVANTES 

    Deposition of CONSTANCE A. SCHRIVER 
CERVANTES, taken before Julie M. Kluber, 
Certified Shorthand Reporter, commencing at 
9:15 a.m., September 20, 2018, at 2500 
Crosspark Road, Room W219, Coralville, Iowa.  

Julie M. Kluber, CSR, RMR
3515 Lochwood Drive NE
Cedar Rapids, IA 52402

319.286.1717
1.866.412.4866
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2

APPEARANCES
         

Plaintiff by: ERIC S. BAXTER
DANIEL H. BLOMBERG  
Attorneys at Law
1200 New Hampshire Avenue NW
Suite 700
Washington, DC  20036 

Defendants by:    GEORGE A. CARROLL 
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Bldg.
1305 E. Walnut Street
Des Moines, IA  50319
      and
NATHAN E. LEVIN
Attorney at Law
University of Iowa
Office of the General Counsel
120 Jessup Hall
Iowa City, IA  52242-1316 
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3

                INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Number   Exhibit                       Marked      

   2     Notice of Rule 30(b)(6)
          Deposition                      8
 
  14     Registration of Student
          Organizations                  11
 
  20     UI Human Rights Policy          12 

  21     UI Nondiscrimination
          Statement                      13
 
  22     UI Statement on Diversity       15
 
  37     UI Policy on Human Rights       28
 
  69     2-17 email string between 
          Kristi Finger, Anita Cory, 
          and Constance Cervantes with 
          BLinC constitution attached   108
 
  72     24:7 Student Leader
          Application of Marcus Miller  111
           
  74     3-24-17 Scott Gaskill 
          interview and handwritten 
          notes of Ms. Cervantes        112

  81     7-24-17 Memorandum re 
          finding on formal complaint 
          of discrimination             114
 
  90     5-17-16 and 6-22-16 emails 
          between Hannah Thompson 
          and Marcus Miller              67
 
  93     Typed and handwritten notes
          of 2-16, 2-20, and 2-27-17
          meetings with Marcus Miller    67
 
  94     2-22-17 email from Thomas 
          Baker to Constance 
          Cervantes and Kristi Finger    67
 
  95     3-2-17 Hannah Thompson 
          interview                      67
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4

Number   Exhibit                       Marked

  96     Chronology                      67
 
  97     3-27-17 handwritten note        67 

  98     4-12-17 email from Hannah
          Thompson to Constance
          Cervantes                      67
 
 100     Various articles from
          Ms. Cervantes' file            67 

 101     5-25-17 handwritten notes
          and 5-26-17 email from
          Constance Cervantes to
          Thomas Baker                   67

 102     5-26-17 handwritten notes
          Bill and Kristi                67
 
 106     5-26-17 handwritten notes
          Tom Baker                      67

 108     7-17 Memorandum to Bill
          Nelson from Thomas Baker       67
 
 109     7-14-17 email to Dean Lyn
          Redington from Jacob Estell   106

 176     Constitution of Love Works      23
 
 178     Constitution of University
          of Iowa Students for the
          Right to Life                  32
 
 181     Constitution of University
          of Iowa Feminist Majority
          Leadership Alliance            33
 
 183     Constitution of Women in
          Science and Engineering
          Ambassadors                    35
 
 220     3-6-09 letter to Elizabeth
          Van Deusen, Rita Bettis,
          Nick Codding, and Robert
          Baehr from Tom Rocklin         118
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